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FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

 
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of the financial condition and results of operations of Fortress 
Paper Ltd. (“Fortress” or the “Company”) has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), which as of January 1, 2011 is the required reporting framework for Canadian publicly accountable enterprises. 
The MD&A should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto for the 
year ended December 31, 2011 (available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com).  This MD&A provides a review of the significant 
developments that have impacted the Company’s performance during the quarter ended December 31, 2011 relative to the 
previous quarter and prior year comparative quarter, and the year ended December 31, 2011 relative to the year ended 
December 31, 2010. 
 
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking statements that reflect the current views and/or expectations of the 
Company with respect to its performance, business and future events.  The reader is cautioned that forward-looking 
statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual results or events to 
differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements including, without limitation, those relating to 
potential disruptions to production and delivery, including as a result of equipment failures, labour issues, the complex 
integration of processes and equipment and other factors, labour relations, regulatory requirements, changes in the market, 
potential downturns in economic conditions, fluctuations in the price and supply of required materials, foreign exchange 
fluctuations, dependence on major customers, and other risk factors detailed in our filings with Canadian securities 
regulatory authorities.  These risks, as well as others, could cause actual results and events to vary significantly.  The 
Company does not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions for updating any voluntary forward-looking 
statements, except as required by law. 
 
Throughout this discussion, reference is also made to EBITDA (defined as net income before interest, income taxes, 
depreciation, amortization, non-operating income and expenses and stock based compensation), which the Company 
considers to be an indicative measure of operating performance and a metric to evaluate profitability.  Reference is also made 
to adjusted net income (loss) (calculated as net income (loss) less specific items affecting comparability with prior periods – 
for the full calculation, see reconciliation included in the tables titled “Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation”) and 
adjusted net income (loss) per share (calculated as adjusted net income (loss) divided by the weighted average number of 
shares outstanding in the period). EBITDA, adjusted net income (loss) and adjusted net income (loss) per share are not 
generally accepted earnings measures and should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss) or cash flows as 
determined in accordance with IFRS. As there is no standardized method of calculating these measures, the Company’s 
EBITDA, adjusted net income (loss) and adjusted net income (loss) per share may not be directly comparable with similarly 
titled measures used by other companies. Reconciliations of EBITDA and adjusted net income (loss) to net income (loss) 
reported in accordance with IFRS are included in this MD&A. 
 
The 2010 prior period comparative financial information throughout this report has been restated to conform with current 
period presentation, and prepared in accordance with IFRS.  The information contained in this report is as at March 2, 2012.  
All financial references are in Canadian dollars unless otherwise noted. 
 
Description of Business 
 
The Company was incorporated on May 30, 2006 under the laws of the Province of British Columbia.  In the 2011 fiscal 
year, Fortress operated internationally in three distinct business segments: the Pulp Segment, Security and Specialty 
Papers Segment and Wallpaper Base Segment. As of the date of this MD&A, the Company's business segments have been 
re-classified given changes in the nature of products being produced as follows: the Dissolving Pulp Segment, the 
Specialty Papers Segment and the Security Paper Products Segment. The Company operates its dissolving pulp business 
at the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill located in Canada which is also in the process of expanding into the renewable 
energy generation sector with the construction of a cogeneration facility.  The Company operates its specialty papers 
business at the Dresden mill located in Germany, where it is a leading international producer of specialty non-woven 
wallpaper base products.  The Company operates its security paper products business at the Landqart mill located in 
Switzerland, where it produces banknote, passport, visa and other brand protection and security papers, and at its new 
high security production and research facility (the “Fortress Optical Facility”) located in Canada, where it manufactures 
optically variable thin film material (“OTM”). The segmentation of the Company’s manufacturing operations is based on 
a number of factors, including production, production processes, and economic characteristics. 
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Overall Performance 
 
Fortress reported 2011 fourth quarter EBITDA loss of $1.5 million.  For the third quarter of 2011, EBITDA loss was $0.8 
million and for the fourth quarter of 2010, EBITDA was $3.6 million.  
 
Fortress reported an adjusted net loss of $6.3 million, or diluted adjusted loss per share of $0.44 for the fourth quarter of 
2011 on sales of $49.5 million. In the third quarter of 2011, the Company reported an adjusted net loss of $7.8 million or 
diluted adjusted loss per share of $0.54 on sales of $84.0 million and for the fourth quarter of 2010 adjusted net loss of 
$1.7 million or diluted loss per share of $0.14 on sales of $83.5 million. 
 
The fourth quarter of 2011 re-defined the Pulp Segment as the Company transitioned from a northern bleached hardwood 
kraft (“NBHK”) and specialty pulp producer to a dissolving pulp producer.  Production of dissolving pulp commenced in 
early December and the Company has since ramped up production to approximately 72% of the planned capacity.  
Dissolving pulp sales are anticipated to provide materially higher margins than previous NBHK and specialty pulp sales. 
 
The Wallpaper Base Segment continued its strong performance in the fourth quarter and achieved record results in the 
2011 fiscal year.  Margins remain strong and the order log is healthy. Overall, the global non-woven wallpaper market 
experienced growth in traditional and emerging regions in 2011. Following completion of upgrades to our paper machine 
in the summer of 2011, production speed increased to 450 metres per minute, representing a theoretical capacity of 
approximately 55,000 tonnes per year at the Dresden mill. Improvements in production efficiency, reduced pulp prices, 
full utilization of the Company's new dry waste plant, together with a slight increase in sales prices, resulted in improved 
EBITDA margins.   
 
The Security and Specialty Papers Segment experienced another challenging quarter.  Throughout 2011, product mix, 
high raw material prices, pricing pressure, a strong Swiss currency, and less than optimal production efficiency on the 
Landqart mill’s paper machines contributed to a disappointing and difficult fourth quarter of 2011. Industry over-capacity 
during 2011, due in part to the postponement of several major currencies, was another factor that impacted performance at 
the Landqart mill, however the Company expects that banknote orders in 2012 will improve utilization and require the 
capacity of both paper machines to meet demands through the last three quarters of the year.  
 
Fortress reported EBITDA of $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2011, compared to $25.9 million for the year 
ended December 31, 2010. Excluding corporate costs, the three business segments’ combined EBITDA was $11.1 million 
and $31.1 million in the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Despite the economic challenges 
experienced in Europe during 2011, the Wallpaper Base Segment was able to contribute a record $31.5 million EBITDA 
which was significantly higher than the previous year at $22.7 million.  The Security and Specialty Papers Segment 
generated significant losses in 2011 ($23.1 million EBITDA loss) compared to the prior year ($0.3 million EBITDA loss).  
The Pulp Segment which commenced operating in mid-2010, generated approximately $2.8 million and $8.7 million 
EBITDA in the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Corporate costs contributed to EBITDA loss in 
the amount of $7.8 million in 2011 and $5.2 million in 2010. 
 
Adjusted net loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $20.6 million or ($1.47) per share (diluted).  Adjusted net 
income for the prior comparative period was $8.2 million or $0.67 per share (diluted). 
 
Management’s Outlook 
 
Dissolving Pulp Segment 
 
Substantial progress is being made within Company’s expanding dissolving pulp business.  Since commencing production 
in December 2011, production has ramped up steadily to a current average rate of 415 tonnes per day ("tpd"), or 
approximately 72% of the planned capacity.  The Company is aiming to achieve full planned production capacity by the 
end of the second quarter of 2012.  The Company’s dissolving pulp product is currently exceeding quality expectations 
and meeting customer specifications. 
 
Although the Company is still assessing and attempting to mitigate the impact of previously disclosed issues that arose 
during the fourth quarter of 2011, the schedule for the completion of the cogeneration project remains materially on-time 
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for the fourth quarter of 2012 in accordance with the Company's energy delivery obligations. However, in the latter part of 
the first quarter of 2012, the Company also reassessed the cogeneration project and identified certain deficiencies in a 
previous estimate from an engineering firm and scope of work adjustments necessary in order to commence delivery of 
power by this time. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.  
 
Demand for dissolving pulp has historically been determined by the level of economic growth and has been closely tied to 
overall business activity. As the global economy slowed in late 2011, dissolving pulp prices weakened substantially, 
dropping to approximately US$1,100 per tonne. A stronger than expected demand for textiles in early 2012 saw a rebound 
of dissolving pulp prices to approximately US$1,280 per tonne in February 2012 with prices currently at approximately 
US$1,250 per tonne.  The demand for dissolving pulp is expected to increase as the demand for textile fibres increases 
with the continued growth of the global population. Demand is also expected to be driven by the development of new 
applications for dissolving pulp and an increased focus on environmental awareness. The Company believes that 
favourable market conditions exist for additional dissolving pulp capacity entering the market. The Company’s strategy is 
to expand its dissolving pulp segment and pursue additional acquisitions and unique opportunities for conversion projects. 
See “Subsequent Events”.    
 
Security Paper Products Segment 
 
The outlook for the banknote industry remains generally positive with global demand for banknotes growing at 
approximately 4% per annum.  The key driver of this growth continues to be the policies of central banks to upgrade the 
security and quality of their banknotes more frequently, thereby increasing the volumes of new notes that need to be 
printed. The growing automation of all aspects of the cash cycle, be it through Automated Teller Machines (ATMs) that 
dispense cash or the increased use of high speed banknote sorting equipment to process and sort cash, stimulates demand 
by requiring the withdrawal of increasing volumes of used banknotes from circulation and their replacement with new 
banknotes. 
 
The banknote paper segment of the market continues to share in this growth.  However, the continued overcapacity in this 
sector of the industry has led to fierce competition and price pressure in the high volume tender markets.  Raw material 
prices (especially for cotton) have eased back from the acute levels seen in the first half of last year and there has been 
less exchange rate volatility since the intervention of the Swiss National Bank to set a ceiling for the Swiss franc 
appreciation against the Euro.  Although recent market conditions have created difficulties for papermakers in general, 
Landqart remains focused on its strategy of expanding its markets beyond Europe and marketing its innovative proprietary 
technology to key customers.  In 2011, Landqart secured orders from new customers in Asia, Africa and Latin America. It 
also completed the first production run of its new composite substrate, Durasafe.  Interest in Durasafe from central banks 
is encouraging and Landqart is seeking to secure several new orders over the next 12 months. 
 
An unexpected delay in the production and delivery of a significant order occurred in the fourth quarter of 2011 which has 
continued into the first quarter of 2012. Although this delay resulted in a temporary disruption in the production schedule, 
the Company expects to be able to resume production and deliveries in the second quarter. 
 
The acquisition and integration of OTM has given Fortress a stake in the important and high value security thread market.  
The Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Fortress Optical Features Ltd. (“Fortress Optical”) is currently engaged in 
developing the next generation of OTM products while continuing to produce OTM components for the colour shifting 
security thread market. 
 
Fortress Optical will continue to work with preferred channel partners to convert the OTM component into a finished 
thread with the aim to sell these products into the banknote paper industry largely through its sister company, Landqart. 
The OTM colour shifting technologies will allow Landqart to offer its own highly secure and technically advanced 
security threads to its central bank customers.  This is an important step forward towards greater vertical integration of the 
supply chain. 
 
Specialty Papers Segment 
 
The non-woven wallpaper market is expected to continue to grow at over 10% per year. Growth drivers include 
substitution of standard paper-based wallpaper and other types of wallcoverings with non-woven wallpaper in traditional 
and emerging markets. The overall wallpaper market is expected to benefit from a recovery in residential construction and 
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remodeling. 
 
Following the paper machine upgrade in 2010, production speed reached 450 m/min, as planned, which translated to an 
increased capacity of approximately 55,000 tonnes per year of non-woven wallpaper base at the Dresden mill. 
 
Significant Developments  
  
Overall, 2011 was a year of significant transformation including the following developments: 
 

• The successful conversion of the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill from a NBHK pulp producer to a 
dissolving pulp producer.  Dissolving pulp production is anticipated to provide materially higher margins 
relative to NBHK pulp and specialty pulp previously produced at the mill. 
 

• Continued margin and market share growth in the non-woven wallpaper market achieved by the Dresden mill. 
 

• Security paper capacity at the Landqart mill increased from 2,500 tonnes to 10,000 tonnes.  Significant 
headwinds were experienced in 2011 as this new capacity became available at a time where there was a 
general softening in the banknote industry and the postponement of several major currencies. 

 
In January 2011, Fortress completed the acquisition of the assets from the Bank of Canada's Optical Security Material 
division which it now uses to produce OTM contained in various banknotes. The Company paid a purchase price of $0.75 
million for the assets and granted the Bank of Canada a royalty-free license to use the intellectual property sold to the 
Company for Canadian banknote applications.  The assets have been relocated to the Fortress Optical Facility which the 
Company built adjacent to its Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill in Quebec. 
 
The Company completed two bought deal short form prospectus offerings in 2011. In February 2011, the Company 
completed an offering (the “2011 Share Offering”) of 1,112,050 of its common shares (including the exercise in full of the 
underwriters' over-allotment option) at a price of $51.75 per share, resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of $57.5 million. 
Proceeds of the 2011 Share Offering were used to finance certain capital expenditures relating to the Company’s Fortress 
Specialty Cellulose mill and the construction of the Fortress Optical Facility. In December 2011, the Company completed 
an offering (the “2011 Debenture Offering”) of 6.50% convertible unsecured subordinated debentures, including the 
exercise in full of the underwriters' over-allotment option, resulting in aggregate gross proceeds of $40.25 million. The 
debentures are listed and posted for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FTP:DB”. Holders of 
debentures may, at their option, convert debentures into common shares at any time prior to maturity at a price of $37.50 per 
share.  The proceeds of the 2011 Debenture Offering were used to reduce outstanding indebtedness, to fund costs arising 
from the Fortress Specialty Cellulose project and for working capital and general corporate purposes. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
Consistent with the Company’s desire to grow its dissolving pulp segment, in January 2012, the Company announced that 
it, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, signed an asset purchase agreement (“APA”) to acquire, together with 9109-3294 
Quebec Inc. (“9109”), an affiliate of the Quebec Government, the assets relating to a pulp mill situated in Lebel-sur-
Quevillon, Quebec owned by Domtar Inc. (the “LSQ Mill”), with the intent to convert the LSQ Mill into a dissolving pulp 
operation.  As part of the acquisition, the Company will acquire a 30-megawatt non-operating cogeneration facility at the 
LSQ Mill, which it intends to restart and is expected to result in material energy savings. In addition, a cogeneration 
expansion project will increase power capabilities to 50 megawatts of total power in respect of which the company is 
seeking a long-term power supply agreement with Hydro Quebec which, once completed, is expected to provide the 
necessary power required to operate the mill. 
 
The closing of the APA is subject to various conditions, including (i) the entering into of a collective agreement with the 
unionized employees of the LSQ Mill, (ii) the entering into of a loan agreement with Investissement Quebec ("IQ") 
securing financing to implement the Company's proposed business plan at the LSQ Mill, (iii) the parties to the APA 
entering into a trust agreement, (iv) the entering into of satisfactory lease and other ownership and access agreements with 
9109, (v)  finalizing satisfactory fibre supply arrangements with the Quebec Government, and (vi) Domtar Inc. completing 
its agreement with the City of Lebel-sur-Quevillon in respect of certain property taxes. 
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Selected Quarterly Information 
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, exchange 
rates and shares outstanding, unaudited) 

Q4 2011 Q3 2011 Q2 2011 Q1 2011 

     

Sales 49,524 83,995 89,905 85,489 
Operating (loss) income (5,607) (4,876) 617 (3,100) 
EBITDA (1,491) (758) 4,599 951 
Net (loss) income (9,171) (7,237) 2,905 (5,727) 
Basic net (loss) income per share  ($0.64) ($0.51) $0.20 ($0.43) 
Diluted net (loss) income per share ($0.64) ($0.51) $0.19 ($0.43) 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding Basic (thousands) 14,298 14,260 14,232 13,417 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding Diluted (thousands) 14,298 14,260 15,145 13,417 
Average Swiss/Canadian exchange rate(1) 1.1216 1.1911 1.1147 1.0476 
Average  Euro/Canadian exchange rate (1) 1.3790 1.3843 1.3937 1.3497 
[     
     
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, exchange 
rates and shares outstanding, unaudited) 

Q4 2010 Q3 2010 Q2 2010 Q1 2010 
 

 
     
Sales 83,467 86,972 60,544 50,304 
Operating (loss) income (10,399) 5,932 2,374 3,430 
EBITDA 3,647 8,800 8,334 5,105 
Net (loss) income (12,790) 5,232 41,816 (397) 
Basic net (loss) income per share  ($1.01) $0.44 $4.08 ($0.04) 
Diluted net (loss) income per share ($1.01) $0.39 $3.65 ($0.04) 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding Basic (thousands) 12,626 12,003 10,237 10,234 
 
Weighted average shares outstanding Diluted (thousands) 12,626 13,482 11,450 10,234 
Average Swiss/Canadian exchange rate(1) 1.0397 1.0085 0.9278 0.9832 
Average  Euro/Canadian exchange rate (1) 1.3760 1.3438 1.3057 1.4381 
     

 
(1) Source – Bank of Canada (average noon rate for the period) 
 
Fluctuations in quarterly results reflect significant transactions and developments within the Company.  Specifically, in the 
second quarter of 2010, the Company acquired the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill which resulted in a significant gain on 
acquisition and represented the entry into an entirely new business segment with a new sales revenue stream. The Fortress 
Specialty Cellulose mill was re-started in May 2010 and the second quarter of 2010 reflects a full month of sales of NBHK 
pulp in June 2010. The third quarter of 2010 reflects a full quarter of sales of NBHK pulp.  In the fourth quarter of 2010, the 
Landqart mill significantly increased its bank-note and security paper production capacity from 2,500 tonnes to 10,000 
tonnes and exited the specialty paper market.  The expansion of security paper production capability which resulted in 
downtime at the Landqart mill as part of the final phase of the papermachine no.1 (“PM1”) rebuild, combined with a special 
bonus payment to the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) of the Company were significant factors impacting results for the 
referenced quarter.   
 
In the second quarter of 2011, the Pulp Segment realized significantly higher prices for specialty pulp relative to the first 
and third quarters of 2011.  In the fourth quarter of 2011 the Pulp Segment was re-defined as the Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose mill transitioned from a NBHK and specialty pulp producer to a dissolving pulp producer.  Results were 
impacted by the mill being in either shut-down or ramp-up mode for much of the quarter with production of dissolving 
pulp commencing in December 2011.  All dissolving pulp revenue and costs for production in December 2011 have been 
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capitalized in property, plant and equipment for accounting purposes. Product mix, high raw material prices, pricing 
pressure, a strong Swiss currency, and less than optimal production efficiency at the Landqart mill contributed to 
disappointing and difficult year for the Security and Specialty Papers Segment which materially impacted the Company’s 
quarterly results throughout 2011. 
 
Fourth Quarter 2011 Earnings Review 
 
Three Months Ended December 31 
 
Overview 
 
Reported EBITDA loss for the Company was $1.5 million for the three months ended December 31, 2011.  For the three 
months ended September 30, 2011, EBITDA loss was $0.8 million and for the three months ended December 31, 2010 
EBITDA was $3.6 million.  
 
Selected Financial Information and Statistics 
 
(thousands of dollars, except shipments, unaudited) 

  
Q4 2011 

  
Q3 2011 

 
Q4 2010 

      
Sales  49,524  83,995 83,467 
EBITDA(1)  (1,491)  (758) 3,647 
Operating loss   (5,607)  (4,876) (10,399) 
Net loss   (9,171)  (7,237) (12,790) 
Adjusted net loss(2)   (6,273)  (7,762) (1,721) 
Paper shipments (tonnes)(3)  13,035  13,383 15,406 
Pulp shipments (tonnes)  8,168  55,918 62,038 

(1) See Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation. 
(2) See Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation. 
(3) Includes shipments of security and specialty paper products by the Landqart and Dresden mills. 
 
 
Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation:  
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, 
unaudited) 

  
Q4 2011 

  
Q3 2011 

                  
         Q4 2010 

      
Net loss   (9,171)  (7,237) (12,790) 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)   2,898  (525) 513 
Executive special bonus payment  -  - 10,556 
      
Adjusted net loss   (6,273)  (7,762) (1,721) 
      
Basic net loss per share  (0.64)  (0.51) (1.01) 
Diluted net loss per share   (0.64)  (0.51) (1.01) 
      
Adjusted net loss per share, basic  (0.44)  (0.54) (0.14) 
Adjusted net loss per share, diluted  (0.44)  (0.54) (0.14) 
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Net Loss to EBITDA Reconciliation: 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited) Q4 2011  Q3 2011 Q4 2010 
     
Net loss    (9,171)    (7,237)   (12,790) 
Income tax (388)  2,051 1,623 
Foreign exchange loss (gain)   2,898  (526) 513 
Interest expense 1,057  836 255 
Amortization 3,793  3,668 3,062 
Stock based compensation 320  450 5,984 
Executive cash award -  - 5,000 
EBITDA (1,491)        (758) 3,647      
 
 
Fortress reported adjusted net loss of $6.3 million, or diluted adjusted net loss per share of $0.44 for the fourth quarter of 
2011 on sales of $49.5 million. In the third quarter of 2011, the Company reported an adjusted net loss of $7.8 million or 
diluted adjusted net loss per share of $0.54 on sales of $84.0 million and for the fourth quarter of 2010 adjusted net loss of 
$1.7 million or diluted adjusted net loss per share of $0.14 on sales of $83.5 million. 
 
Cost of products sold were $41.4 million or 83.6% of sales for the three months ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
$75.5 million or 89.9% in the third quarter of 2011.  In the fourth quarter of 2010, cost of products sold were $71.4 million or 
85.6% of sales.  Sales and cost of products sold declined significantly in the fourth quarter of 2011 compared to the prior 
quarter and prior year comparative quarter due to the necessary shut down of the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill pending 
completion of the conversion project and the subsequent ramp to dissolving pulp production late in the quarter.  All 
dissolving pulp revenue and costs for production in December have been capitalized in property, plant and equipment for 
accounting purposes. 
 
Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses were $9.6 million for the fourth quarter of 2011 compared to $9.3 
million for the third quarter of 2011.  The prior year comparative SG&A was $13.4 million, which included the $5.0 million 
cash award component of a special bonus payment to the CEO of the Company.  The decreased level of SG&A relative to 
the prior year was off-set slightly by a higher level of corporate activity as the Company pursued several growth 
opportunities, one of which was announced subsequent to the year ended December 31, 2011, as mentioned under the 
heading “Significant Developments”. 
 
Stock-based compensation expense was $0.3 million during the period compared to $0.5 million in the third quarter of 2011.  
The prior year comparative period stock-based compensation was $6.0 million, which included $5.6 million of the stock 
based compensation portion of a special bonus payment to the CEO of the Company. 
 
Operating Results by Business Segment 
 
Pulp Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
Q4 2011 

  
Q3 2011 

 
Q4 2010 

      
Sales  (1,953)  36,887 35,006 
Operating loss   (2,207)  (859) (283) 
Shipments (tonnes)  8,168  55,918 62,038 
 
The fourth quarter of 2011 was one of significant transformation for the Pulp Segment.  The Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill 
entered the quarter producing specialty pulp and exited as a producer of dissolving pulp having sold its first 966 tonnes.   
During much of the quarter the mill was in a ramp-up phase, whereby approximately $15.7 million of costs, net any sales, 
were capitalized as property, plant and equipment.  Sales in the fourth quarter of 2011 also included 11,700 tonnes of 
commissioned sales of pulp not produced at the mill; however, the Company was required to repurchase certain specialty 
pulp sold in the prior quarter which resulted in a sales deficit of approximately $2.0 million.  The repurchased specialty pulp 
was subsequently re-sold after the year-end. 
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As previously disclosed in January 2012, the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill was at approximately 60% capacity and as of 
the date of this MD&A is at approximately 72% of planned annual capacity.  
 
Wallpaper Base Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
Q4 2011 

  
Q3 2011 

 
Q4 2010 

      
Sales   34,881  35,778 31,972 
Operating income  8,172  6,371 6,527 
Shipments (tonnes)  11,990  12,661 12,120 
 
Shipment volume in the fourth quarter of 2011 was comparable, but slightly lower than the previous quarter and 3% higher 
relative to the prior year comparative period due to the implementation of capital programs to increase capacity.  Margins 
improved relative to the prior year comparative quarter and remained stable compared to the third quarter of 2011.  This was 
a result of lower costs associated with decreased price of raw materials, improved waste rates and higher sales prices realized 
in the current quarter relative to the fourth quarter of 2010.  The Company completed an additional upgrade of its Dresden 
mill during the annual maintenance shutdown in the third quarter.  The upgrade was successful and has added 
approximately 10% additional capacity.  The order book at the Dresden mill remains strong and management does not 
currently anticipate any downward pressure on results in the short term. 
 
Security and Specialty Papers Segment  
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
Q4 2011 

  
Q3 2011 

 
Q4 2010 

      
Sales  16,596  11,330 16,489 
Operating loss   (9,205)  (8,258) (4,301) 
Shipments (tonnes)  1,045  722 3,286 
 
Results in the fourth quarter of 2011 reflect continued headwinds of a strong Swiss franc, high raw material costs, and less 
than optimal production efficiency on the paper machines at the Landqart mill, in part as a result of the postponement of 
several major currencies. 
 
Effective October 31, 2010 the last of the specialty papers were produced at the Landqart mill.  Shipments in the third and 
fourth quarters of 2011 consisted only of security papers. In the previous year comparative quarter shipments consisted of 
security papers and 1,644 tonnes of non-woven simplex wallpaper.  Specialty papers are no longer produced at Landqart as 
the mill has fully converted to a security paper producer. 
 
The Company expects the first quarter of 2012 to continue to be challenging for the Landqart mill, primarily as a result of 
delays in connection with a significant banknote order previously awarded to Landqart.  Once production begins on this 
order, it is anticipated that the mill will be producing with much greater efficiency on its paper machines and that the 
capacity of both machines will be required to meet demands through the remainder of 2012.   
 
Fortress Optical began operations in 2011 generating sales of $0.9 million and $0.5 million in the fourth quarter and third 
quarter of 2011, respectively. Fortress Optical produces security material for the security threads used in banknotes at the 
Fortress Optical Facility. 
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Year Ended December 31 
 
Selected Financial Information and Statistics for the Year Ended: 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 

 
December 31,  

2009 
Canadian GAAP 

      
Sales  308,913  281,287 198,310 
EBITDA(1)  3,300  25,888 25,583 
Operating (loss) income  (12,963)  1,342 19,715 
Net (loss) income  (19,230)  33,865 12,697 
Adjusted net (loss) income  (20,625)  8,222 13,846 
Total assets  493,531  306,613 139,867 
Long-term debt  137,949  45,758 18,984 
Paper shipments (tonnes)(3)  57,070  64,568 56,499 
Pulp shipments (tonnes)  174,383  141,355 - 
 
(1) See Net (Loss) Income to EBITDA Reconciliation. 
(2) See Net (Loss) Income to Adjusted Net (Loss) Income Reconciliation. 
(3) Includes shipments of security and specialty paper products by the Landqart and Dresden mills. 
 
Net Loss to Adjusted Net Loss Reconciliation: 
 
(thousands of dollars, except per share amounts, 
unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 

 
December 31,  

2009 
Canadian 

GAAP 
      
Net (loss) income   (19,230)  33,865 12,697 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss   (1,395)  2,237 1,149 
Fair value gain on acquisition  -  (41,804) - 
Start-up costs  -  3,368 - 
Executive special bonus payment  -  10,556 - 
Adjusted net (loss) income  (20,625)  8,222 13,846 
Basic net (loss) income per share  
Diluted net (loss) income per share 

 (1.37) 
(1.37) 

 3.00 
2.74 

1.24 
1.23 

Adjusted net (loss) income per share, basic  (1.47)  0.73 1.34 
Adjusted net (loss) income per share, diluted  (1.47)  0.67 1.34 
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Net (Loss) Income to EBITDA Reconciliation: 
(thousands of dollars, unaudited)  

December 31,  
2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 

 
December 31,  

2009 
Canadian GAAP 

     
Net (loss) income (19,230)  33,865 12,697 
Income tax 3,939  6,220 4,844 
Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (1,395)  2,237 1,149 
Fair value gain on acquisition -  (41,804) - 
Start-up costs -  3,368 - 
Interest expense 3,723  824 1,025 
Amortization 14,363  8,584 4,887 
Stock based compensation 1,900  7,594 981 
Executive cash award -  5,000 - 
EBITDA $3,300  $25,888 $25,583 
     
 
Overview 
 
EBITDA for the Company was $3.3 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 on sales of $308.9 million 
compared to $25.9 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 2010 on sales of $281.3 million.  Record annual results 
for the Dresden mill were offset by the challenges experienced by the Landqart mill.  See "Operating Results by Business 
Segment – Security and Specialty Papers Segment", below.  In the Pulp Segment, the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill 
continued efforts to maximize returns producing a specialty pulp product prior to the conversion to the higher margin 
dissolving pulp production which was completed in December 2011. 
 
Excluding corporate costs, the three business segments’ combined EBITDA was $11.1 million and $31.1 million in the 
years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Despite the economic challenges experienced in Europe during 
2011, the Wallpaper Base Segment was able to contribute a record $31.5 million EBITDA which was significantly higher 
than the previous year at $22.7 million.  The Security and Specialty Paper Segment generated significant losses in 2011 
($23.1 million EBITDA loss) compared to the prior year ($0.3 million EBITDA loss).  The Pulp Segment which 
commenced operating in mid-2010, generated approximately $2.8 million and $8.7 million EBITDA in the years ended 
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.  Corporate costs reduced EBITDA in the amount of $7.8 million in 2011 and 
$5.2 million in 2010. 
 
Adjusted net loss for the year ended December 31, 2011 was $20.6 million or ($1.47) per share (diluted).  Adjusted net 
income for the prior comparative period was $8.2 million or $0.67 per share (diluted). 
 
Total shipments of paper products produced by the Landqart mill and the Dresden mill were lower compared to the prior 
comparative period due to postponement in production associated with the conversion of the Landqart mill from a specialty 
paper mill to a higher margin banknote and security paper mill, which was completed in the first quarter of 2011, whereas in 
the prior year much of the volume was the result of specialty paper production.  The Dresden mill, in contrast, experienced 
increased sales and capacity in 2011 compared to the previous year. 
 
Total NBHK pulp and specialty pulp shipments reflect almost ten months of sales from production at the Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose mill in 2011, compared to approximately seven months of sales in 2010.  The Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill was 
purchased by the Company on April 30, 2010 and re-started production in late May 2010 after having been idle for some 
time under previous ownership. December 2011 also saw the first shipment of dissolving pulp by the Company. 

Cost of products sold was $268.2 million or 86.8% of sales for the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 compared to 
$230.2 million or 81.8% in the twelve months ended December 31, 2010.  The increased percentage of cost of products to 
sales was primarily impacted by the performance of the Security and Specialty Papers Segment and deterioration in margin 
(see “Operating Results by Business Segment”, below).  
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SG&A expenses were $37.4 million in 2011 compared to $33.6 million in 2010.  Excluding the executive cash award of $5.0 
million, the prior year comparative SG&A was $28.6 million.  The increased level of SG&A relative to the prior year is due 
to a full year contribution from the Pulp Segment in 2011 relative to seven months in 2010 and an increased level of 
corporate activity as the Company pursued several growth opportunities, one of which was announced subsequent to the year 
ended December 31, 2011 as mentioned under the heading “Subsequent Events”. 
 
Stock-based compensation expense was $1.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2011 compared to $7.6 million in 
the previous year. Excluding the $5.6 million executive share based award, the prior year comparative period stock-based 
compensation was $2.0 million. 
 
The Company recorded income tax expense of $3.9 million in 2011 comprised of $8.1 million current tax expense offset 
partially by $4.2 million in future income tax recovery, compared to $6.2 million in the previous year, comprised of $7.1 
million current tax expense slightly offset by $0.8 million in future income tax recovery.  For both years, current tax expense 
was primarily a direct result of the strong results experienced in the Wallpaper Base Segment.  The amount recognized as 
future income tax recovery in 2011 mainly represents an increase in deferred tax liabilities for movement in property, plant 
and equipment timing differences partially offset by an increase in deferred income tax assets for recognition of tax loss 
carry forwards.  In 2010, the future income tax recovery was primarily due to an increase in deferred tax liabilities for 
movement in property, plant and equipment timing differences. 
 
Foreign exchange gains and losses relate primarily to translation losses or gains on foreign denominated debt. 
 
 
Operating Results by Business Segment 
 
Pulp Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 
     
Sales  110,481  85,768 
Operating (loss) income  (692)  3,035 
Operating (loss) income adjusted for start-up   (692)  6,403 
Shipments (tonnes)  174,383  141,355 
 
Results for the year ended December 31, 2011 reflect efforts made to produce specialty pulp to maximize returns while 
training employees and completing equipment upgrades required for the conversion of the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill 
to a dissolving pulp mill, including the necessary shut down of the mill for the final phase of the conversion project.  The 
final shutdown phase began in mid-October and, after a temporary work delay, the mill initiated the final stages of the 
conversion project and began production of dissolving pulp by early December.  Since that time, the mill has ramped up 
production and is currently at approximately 72% of the planned capacity.  On a going forward basis, the Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose mill and any future dissolving or specialty pulp manufacturing facility will represent the Dissolving Pulp Segment 
of the Company’s business. 
 
Wallpaper Base Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 

 
December 31,  

2009 
Canadian GAAP 

      
Sales   144,226  122,316 113,635 
Operating income  28,353  20,576 19,282 
Shipments (tonnes)  52,503  48,032 40,833 
 
Tonnes shipped in the twelve months ended December 31, 2011 were 9% higher than the comparable prior year period due 
to the completion of capital programs resulting in increased capacity.  Pricing and margins also improved relative to the prior 
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year comparative period as overall raw material prices have receded and waste rates have declined.  On a going forward 
basis, the Dresden mill will represent the Specialty Papers Segment of the Company’s business. 
 
Security and Specialty Papers Segment 
 
(thousands of dollars, except for shipments, unaudited) 

  
December 31,  

2011 

  
December 31,  

2010 

 
December 31,  

2009 
Canadian GAAP 

      
Sales  54,206  73,203 84,675 
Operating (loss) income  (30,885)  (4,527) 4,895 
Shipments (tonnes)  4,567  16,536 15,666 
 
An increase in security paper capacity at the Landqart mill from 2,500 tonnes to 10,000 tonnes became available in 2011 
at a time where there was a general softening in the banknote industry, due in part to a delay in the re-design of the Euro 
and Swiss Franc banknotes, resulting in primarily smaller legacy orders being produced at the Landqart mill.  Product 
mix, high raw material prices, pricing pressure, a strong Swiss currency, and less than optimal production efficiency on its 
paper machines have contributed to a disappointing and difficult year in 2011. 
 
The final sale of specialty papers (514 tonnes of simplex non-woven wallpaper base) occurred early in the year and was 
sold from inventory. With the completion of the PM1 rebuild in early 2011, the Landqart mill has been fully converted to 
a banknote and security papers producer.  In the prior comparative period, annual sales reflect security and specialty 
papers which included 6,532 tonnes of simplex non-woven wallpaper base.  In addition, PM1 was out of commercial 
production for the final two months of 2010 while it was being converted into a high security paper machine. 
 
Fortress Optical began operations in 2011 and generated sales of $2.6 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 
2011 and contributed marginally to the operating loss.  On a going forward basis, the Landqart mill and Fortress Optical will 
represent the Security Paper Products Segment of the Company's business. 
 
Selected Cash Flow Items 

 Year         
Ended  

December 31,     
2011 

Year         
Ended  

December 31,  
2010  

   
Cash (used by) provided before working capital changes (6,623) 10,935 
Non-cash working capital change (16,109) (10,889) 
Cash provided (used by) operating activities (22,732) 46 
   
   
Cash provided from financing activities 154,832 75,614 
   
Additions to property, plant and equipment (162,161) (60,023) 
Other 9,770 (570) 
Acquisitions (750) (3,000) 
Cash used by investing activities (153,141) (63,593) 
   
Change in cash position (21,041) 12,067 

Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents 1,379 (2,713) 
 
Fortress operates in a cyclical industry and its operating cash flows vary accordingly. Fortress' principal operating cash 
expenditures are for compensation and raw materials.  Operating activities used cash of $22.7 million in the twelve 
months ended December 31, 2011 compared to providing cash of $0.1 million in the twelve months ended December 31, 
2010. 
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Working capital is subject to cyclical operating needs, the timing of collection of receivables and the payment of payables 
and expenses.  The significant difference between 2011 and 2010 is a result of increased inventory and receivables 
partially offset by higher payables attributable primarily to the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill conversion project and 
the ongoing cogeneration project. 
 
Financing Activities 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2011, financing activities generated $154.8 million.  In February 2011, Fortress completed 
the 2011 Share Offering resulting in aggregate net proceeds of $54.8 million.  Proceeds received from option exercises 
throughout 2011 were $0.7 million.  In December 2011, Fortress completed the 2011 Debenture Offering resulting in 
aggregate net proceeds of $38.1 million.  Also, in the twelve months ended December 31, 2011, proceeds of $74.1 million 
were received from additional debt, primarily through loan drawdowns under the Company's loan agreement with IQ in 
respect of the conversion and cogeneration projects at the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill.  Payments on indebtedness and 
debt interest in 2011 used cash of $10.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively. 
 
In the year ended December 31, 2010, financing activities generated $75.6 million comprised of $42.3 million net proceeds 
from the issuance of common shares under an equity financing by way of short form prospectus, loan proceeds of $39.0 
million, $0.5 million net from option exercises less debt repayment of $4.2 million and finance expenses paid of $2.0 
million. 
 
Investing Activities 
 
Investing activities in the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 used cash of $153.1 million and $63.6 million, 
respectively.  Investment activities relate primarily to the purchase of equipment and other capital expenditures at the mills. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has made aggregate expenditures and accruals of approximately $140.5 million 
on the conversion of Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill from a NBHK producer to a dissolving pulp mill and the 
construction of a new cogeneration facility (the “Fortress Specialty Project”).  As at the date of this report, aggregate 
expenditures and accruals on the Fortress Specialty Project were approximately $146.0 million.  The schedule for the 
commencement of dissolving pulp production was initially delayed due to rescheduling of the delivery and installation of 
specialized equipment, the enhancement of certain processes and other ancillary matters. Further delays resulted from an 
unexpected walkout in October 2011 of construction employees of contractors engaged by the Company, the extra time 
subsequently required upon the return of the workers to fully ramp-up construction activities at the site, completion of 
identified improvements to infrastructure relating to buildings, supports and the chip tower inter-connection and 
implementation of enhancements to the mill's safety and control systems. In the latter part of the first quarter of 2012, 
management also reassessed the cogeneration project and identified certain deficiencies in a previous estimate from an 
engineering firm as well as scope of work adjustments necessary in order to commence delivery of power in the fourth 
quarter of 2012. As a result of these collective issues, the current budgeted capital expenditures remaining for the Fortress 
Specialty Project as a whole are approximately $64.0 million without any contingencies, which will be spent primarily on 
the cogeneration project. 
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that current cash, cash generated from operations, tax credits, 
proceeds from the divestiture of non-core assets, together with amounts available under its existing or new credit facilities 
should be sufficient to meet its debt service, capital expenditure and short term working capital requirements. Fortress' 
future operating performance and its ability to finance capital expenditures, service its debt and pay other indebtedness of 
Fortress will be subject to future economic conditions, the financial success of Fortress' business, the successful ramp-up 
of its dissolving pulp production to full planned capacity and other factors, some of which are not within Fortress' control, 
including but not limited to changes in market prices for its products, raw materials costs and foreign currency exchange 
rates. See “Risk Factors”. Although the ramp-up of dissolving pulp production to planned capacity at the Fortress 
Specialty Cellulose mill is anticipated to provide significant cash flow and liquidity, Fortress may determine, in its sole 
discretion, that market or financial conditions may warrant that it seek additional sources of capital on terms satisfactory 
to Fortress, including but not limited to additional debt or equity financing, in order to fund over-runs in capital 
expenditures, provide additional working capital, enhance liquidity or for other general corporate purposes. 
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On June 17, 2009, the Canadian Federal Government announced the Pulp and Paper Green Transformation Program (the 
“Program”). The Program is designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying energy and environmental 
capital projects. Credits may be used until the Program end date of March 31, 2012. The Company was allocated $9.9 
million from the Program in 2011 and received Program approval to apply the funding to the installation of lime kiln and 
recovery boiler upgrades at the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill.  These projects are expected to provide economic and 
environmental benefits to the Company’s operations. As at December 31, 2011 the Company had received $8.9 million 
under the Program, and the remaining $1.0 million is expected to be received by the end of the first quarter of 2012.  The 
Company has recorded $16.3 million in other receivables for investment tax credits, the majority of which is expected to 
be received in 2012. Fortress also previously applied for approximately $15.2 million (which may be increased subject to 
the aggregate amount of the capital expenditures) in federal credits under the Green Infrastructure Fund program of the 
Minister of Transport, Infrastructure & Communities relating to the cogeneration project, which remains in process. There 
is no assurance that such federal credits will be granted to or received by the Company in a timely manner or at all.  
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company had cash of $22.9 million and debt of $152.4 million.  Included in this indebtedness 
is $79.4 million drawn on the $102.4 million credit facility with IQ.  Of the amount drawn, $8.1 million is included in 
other accounts receivable and has been received subsequent to December 31, 2011. The amount has been reported as 
“Other accounts receivable” since it represents an amount contractually owing to the Company by IQ under the credit 
facility, which provides that the Company is able to draw down on its loan after it confirms to IQ that certain qualifying 
capital expenditures are made. The amount that IQ is obligated to make available to the Company upon confirmation that 
such expenditures have been made meets the definition of an “asset” in accordance with the Conceptual Framework 
section of IFRS.  A corresponding liability is also recorded under “Long term debt” in the balance sheet.  There is no right 
of offset between these two amounts therefore both an asset and a liability have been recorded. 
 
In 2011, the Company completed the 2011 Share Offering and the 2011 Debenture Offering. Proceeds of these offerings 
were used substantially as disclosed in their respective prospectuses. 
 
Principal repayments of debt outstanding as at December 31, 2011 are required as follows: 
 

  ($ 000’s)  
    

2012   14,459  
2013   19,122  
2014   19,009  
2015  18,939  
2016  59,462  
Thereafter   29,827  

  $ 160,819  
 
Under existing credit facilities, the Company can defer up to $6.5 million in 2012 planned principal payments without 
penalty. 
 
Commitments 
 
The minimum operating lease commitment over the next five years and thereafter is as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

($ 000’s) 
  

  2012   805 
  2013   765 
  2014   149 
  2015  33 
  2016  11 
  Thereafter   − 

 $ 1,763 
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As at December 31, 2011 the Company has:  
 

• committed to purchase $24.5 million in property, plant, and equipment;   
• performance bonds in the amounts of EUR 7.0 million and US$0.2 million; and 
• committed to purchase steam from a supplier up to the end of 2015 for CHF 0.9 million per year. 

 
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its assets and maintain a globally competitive cost 
structure while looking for growth opportunities to provide returns to its shareholders. In addition, the Company works 
with relevant stakeholders to ensure the safety of its operations and employees, and remain in compliance with applicable 
environmental regulations and enhance the communities in which it operates. 
 
The Company monitors and assesses on an ongoing basis its financial performance in order to ensure that its net debt 
levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle.  The Company monitors 
continuously the public and private debt markets and the public equity markets in order to assure that its capital structure 
is appropriately balanced.  The Company can be influenced materially by changes in the relative value of the Canadian 
dollar, Swiss Franc, U.S. dollar and Euro. 
 
The Company’s capital comprises of net debt and shareholders’ equity: 

 
 December 31, 

2011 
$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1,     
2010 

$ 
    

Cash and cash equivalents 22,897 42,559 33,205 
Less total debt 152,408 54,735 23,417 
Net (debt) cash  (129,511) (12,176) 9,788 

Shareholders’ equity 231,639 190,786 94,968 
 

The Company has certain financial covenants stipulating maximum net debt to capitalization ratios, maximum debt to 
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization ratios, and minimum current ratios. Debt obligations are 
owed by various entities within the organization with individual loan agreements specifying the entities within the group 
of companies that are to be included in the covenant calculations. 
 
The Company ensures it remains in compliance with all of its existing debt covenants in order to facilitate future access to 
capital.  Management reviews past results and forecasts to monitor their compliance.  The Company was in compliance 
with all externally imposed capital requirements for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. 
 
Outstanding Shares 
 
The number of common shares outstanding at December 31, 2011 and the date of this report was 14,303,594.  The number 
of options outstanding at December 31, 2011 and the date of this report was 566,725.  At December 31, 2011 and the date of 
this report there were 262,664 and 272,066 restricted share units outstanding, respectively.  At December 31, 2011 and the 
date of this report there were 142,873 and 146,346 deferred share units outstanding, respectively. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted 
in Canada requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Significant estimates are used for, but not limited to, the accounting for doubtful 
accounts, amortization, asset recoverability, derivative financial instruments, fair valuation of acquired assets, pensions and 
post-retirement obligations, asset retirement obligations, stock compensation, income taxes and contingencies. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates. 
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Employee Future Benefits 
 
The Company maintains a defined contribution pension plan in Canada. The total cost recognized in 2011 for the Company’s 
contribution to the plan was $1.1 million (2010: $0.6 million).  
 
The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland providing pension benefits based on either length of 
service or earnings and length of service.  The Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and fair value of plan assets 
for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial valuation for the plan was December 31, 
2011.  Actuarial valuations include certain assumptions that directly affect the fair value of the assets and obligations and 
expenses recorded in the financial statements.  Actual experience can vary materially from the estimates and impact the cost 
of the Company's pension and future cash flow requirements.  These assumptions and estimates include: 
 
 December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1,  

2010 
Significant actuarial assumptions used are as follows % % % 
Discount rate to determine benefit obligations at end of year 2.5 2.9 3.3 
Discount rate to determine benefit expense (income) for the year 2.9 3.3 n/a 
Expected rate of return on plan assets  4.0 4.0 n/a 
Rate of increase in future compensation  1.5 1.5 1.5 

 Future pension increases 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 Expected average remaining working lives in years 9.1 8.8 8.9 
    
Plan assets at fair value at the end of the year % % % 
Liquid assets  9.0 6.0 3.8 
Bonds  50.1 50.2 51.1 
Equity — World  21.0 24.8 25.9 
Real estate  19.9 19.0 19.2 

 100.0 100.0 100.0 
 

Deferred Taxes 
 
In accordance with IFRS, Fortress recognizes deferred income tax assets when it is probable that the deferred income tax 
assets will be realized.  This assumption is based on management’s best estimate of future circumstances and events.  If these 
estimates and assumptions are changed in the future, the value of the deferred income tax assets could be reduced or 
increased, resulting in an income tax expense or recovery.  Fortress reevaluates its deferred income tax assets on a regular 
basis. 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental obligations, including provisions for cleanup of landfill sites and related legal claims, where applicable, are 
recognized as liabilities when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more 
likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.  
Provisions are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.  The Company owns several manufacturing 
sites that have been in existence for significant periods of time and, as a result, there may be unknown environmental 
liabilities.  Until the sites are decommissioned and the plants and equipment removed, a complete environmental review 
cannot be undertaken. 
 
The Company has costs associated with containment and ongoing maintenance relating to landfill sites in Canada. These 
costs are measured at fair value which approximates the cost a third party would incur in performing the tasks associated 
with the landfill sites. These obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $0.9 million to remediate the 
landfills at the end of their useful lives. These payments are expected to occur within the next 12 months and have been 
recorded in other accruals. 
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Contingencies 
 

Provisions for liabilities relating to legal actions and claims require judgments using management's best estimates regarding 
projected outcomes and the range of loss, based on such factors as historical experiences and recommendations of legal 
counsel.  Actual results may vary from estimates and the differences are recorded when known. In respect of a dispute 
which arose in the fourth quarter of 2011 relating to a faulty input which was provided by a third party supplier of the 
Landqart mill, the Company expects that any amounts under dispute will be reimbursed to the Company by the supplier.  
The net impact to the mill is therefore expected to be nil. The treatment of this dispute by the Company reflects the best 
estimate of management, however there is no assurance that all or any portion of the disputed amount will be reimbursed to 
the Company. A failure by the Company to be reimbursed for the cost of this input or to have the input replaced or repaired 
by the supplier could result in a material adverse impact on the financial results of Landqart. 

 
 
Changes in Accounting Policies 
 
Transition to and Initial Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 
 
The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as set 
out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA Handbook”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook 
was revised to incorporate IFRS, and require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for years 
beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has commenced reporting on this basis in the condensed 
interim consolidated financial statements as at March 31, 2011.  For additional information on the conversion to IFRS, see 
the management's discussion and analysis in respect of the year ended December 31, 2010, the unaudited interim condensed 
consolidated financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2011 and the audited annual consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, accompanying this MD&A. 
 
Impact of Adopting IFRS on the Company’s Business 
 
The adoption of IFRS has resulted in some changes to the Company’s accounting systems and business processes;  
however, the impact has been minimal.  The Company has not identified any contractual arrangements that are 
significantly impacted by the adoption of IFRS.  The Company’s staff involved in the preparation of financial statements 
has been appropriately trained on the relevant aspects of IFRS and the changes to accounting policies.  The Company’s 
Audit Committee has been regularly updated throughout the IFRS transition process, and is aware of the key aspects of 
IFRS as they impact Fortress. 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements 
 
The following IFRS have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and adopted for use in 
Canada by the Accounting Standards Board: 
 
IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 
 
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.  This standard addresses classification and measurement 
of financial assets and replaces the multiple category and measurement models in IAS 39 for debt instruments with a new 
mixed measurement model having only two categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit and loss.  IFRS 9 also 
replaces the models for measuring equity instruments with recognition at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value 
through other comprehensive earnings. 
 
IFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015.  The Company is currently assessing the impact 
of this standard on the financial statements. 
 
IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements.  IFRS 10 establishes principles for the 
presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. This 
IFRS defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in an 
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entity’s consolidated financial statements. IFRS 10 sets out three elements of control: a) power over the investee; b) 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and c) the ability to use power over the investee 
to affect the amount of the investors return. IFRS 10 sets out the requirements on how to apply the control principle. IFRS 10 
and IFRS 12 supersede IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities. 
 
This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted if 
adopted along with IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (revised) and IAS 28 (revised). The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of these standards on the financial statements. 
 
IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 
 
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, which provides guidance on accounting for joint arrangements. 
If an arrangement has joint control, IFRS 11 classifies joint arrangements as either joint operations or joint ventures, 
depending on the rights and obligations of the parties involved. 
 
A joint operation is an arrangement where the jointly controlling parties have rights to the assets and obligations in respect of 
the liabilities relating to the arrangement. An entity accounts for a joint operation by recognizing its portion of the assets, 
liabilities, revenues and expenses. A joint venture is an arrangement where the jointly controlling parties have rights to the 
net assets of the arrangement. A joint venture is accounted for using the equity method. Proportionate consolidation is no 
longer permitted. 
 
This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted.  This 
standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements as Fortress currently has no joint 
arrangements. 
 
IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
 
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.  IFRS 12 outlines the disclosure 
requirements for interests in subsidiaries and other entities to enable users to evaluate the risks associated with interests in 
other entities and the effects of those interests on an entity’s financial position, financial performance and cash flows. IFRS 
10 and IFRS 12 supersede IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities. 
 
This standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted.  The 
Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard on the financial statements. 
 
IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 
 
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (“IFRS 13”). This standard defines fair value, sets out a 
single IFRS framework for measuring fair value and outlines disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. IFRS 
13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity-specific 
measurement so assumptions that market participants would use should be applied in measuring fair value. 
 
This standard is effective for annual periods on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. This IFRS is to be 
applied prospectively as of the beginning of the annual period in which it is initially applied and the disclosure requirements 
do not need to be applied in comparative periods before initial application.  The Company is currently assessing the impact 
of this standard on the financial statements. 
 
IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 
 
IAS 1 has been amended to require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into two 
groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled to net income in the future.  Entities that choose to present OCI items 
before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately.  The amendment is effective for 
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annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with earlier application permitted.  IAS 1 is not expected to have a 
material impact on amounts recorded in the financial statements of the Company. 
 
IAS 19 – Employee Future Benefits 
 
In June 2011, the IASB issued an amended version of IAS 19, Employee Benefits. The amendments to IAS 19 are meant to 
improve the quality, transparency and comparability of information presented for post-employment benefits. For defined 
benefit plans, the amendments eliminate the option to defer actuarial gains and losses on the balance sheet through the 
“corridor method”. The amendments also require any remeasurement gains or losses, including actuarial gains and losses, to 
be recognized immediately and presented in other comprehensive income, eliminating the option to recognize and present 
these through the income statement. Additional disclosures will also be required to present better information about the 
characteristics, amounts recognized, and risks related to defined benefit plans.  
 
The amendments to IAS 19 are effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2013 with earlier adoption 
permitted.  The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on the financial statements. 
 
Risks and Uncertainties  
 
A comprehensive discussion of risk factors is included in the Company’s 2010 annual information form dated March 29, 
2011, available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. Those as well as the following additional risks may impact the business of 
the Company: 
 
Dissolving Pulp Markets 
 
The pulp and dissolving pulp business is highly cyclical in nature and may result in periods of supply and demand 
imbalance, which in turn affects product prices. Pulp and dissolving pulp markets are highly competitive and are sensitive to 
cyclical changes in the global economy, industry capacity and foreign exchange rates, all of which can have a significant 
influence on selling prices and the Company's operating results. The length and magnitude of industry cycles have varied 
over time but generally reflect changes in macro-economic conditions and levels of industry capacity. 
 
Industry capacity can fluctuate as changing industry conditions can influence producers, including the Company, to idle 
production capacity or permanently close mills. In addition, to avoid substantial cash costs in idling or closing a mill, some 
producers, including the Company, may choose to operate at a loss, sometimes even a cash loss, which can prolong weak 
pricing environments due to oversupply. Oversupply of the Company's products can also result from producers introducing 
new capacity in response to favorable pricing trends. 
 
Although the Company has entered into long term purchase and sale contracts with customers representing approximately 
78% of the Company's anticipated dissolving pulp production, the prices agreed to under such contracts may, depending on 
market conditions, be set significantly above prevailing dissolving pulp market prices. The Company may be limited in its 
ability to realize these contracted prices in the event of a dispute with contract counterparties. 
 
Additional Funding Requirements 
 
The Company may need additional financing in connection with the Fortress Specialty Project and the implementation of its 
business and strategic plans from time to time. However, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain 
the necessary financing in a timely manner or on acceptable terms, if at all. The implementation of the Fortress Specialty 
Project and the Company's business and strategic plans from time to time will require a substantial amount of capital and the 
amounts available to the Company, including amounts expected to become available under government incentive programs 
or otherwise, without seeking additional debt or equity financing may not be sufficient to fund such project, business and 
strategic plans. The Company may have further capital requirements to take advantage of future opportunities or 
acquisitions. 
 
Fortress Specialty Project 
 
Although dissolving pulp production at the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill has commenced, there may be unanticipated 
delays or costs arising as production volumes increase to expected capacity, and the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill could 
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experience operating difficulties or delays during this period, including difficulties or delays in the generation of electricity at 
the cogeneration facility, once completed. The Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill may not achieve the Company's planned 
production level, quality or cost projections in respect of the dissolving pulp operation, or the power generation or the level 
required under the energy supply agreement with Hydro Québec for the sale of green electricity to be produced at the 
Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill upon completion of the cogeneration facility. Cost overruns, equipment breakdowns, 
damage during shipment of equipment or failures to perform to design specifications, delays in the generation and sales of 
surplus energy, including contracted amounts, could have a material adverse effect on the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill's 
results of operations and financial performance. 
 
Dependence on Major Customers 
 
The Landqart mill’s anticipated three largest customers may account for over 50% of its annual production volume for the 
2012 financial year. The nature of banknote paper production limits the absolute number of potential customers. Similarly, 
the Dresden mill’s anticipated three largest customers may account for over 35% of its annual production volume for the 
2012 financial year. The Pulp Segment sells substantially all of its product through an exclusive distributor pursuant to a pulp 
purchase and sale agreement. In the absence of the Company’s exclusive distributor, the Company believes there are 
alternative means that are readily available for selling the product of the Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill. 
 
A significant reduction of purchases, whether as a result of postponements or delays in orders for our products, contractual 
disputes or otherwise, by any of our largest customers could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition, liquidity and results of operations. 
 
Global Economic Downturn 
 
In the event of a continued general economic downturn or a recession, there can be no assurance that the business, financial 
condition and results of operations of the Company would not be materially adversely affected. Current global financial 
conditions have been subject to increased volatility and numerous commercial and financial enterprises have either gone into 
bankruptcy or creditor protection or have had to be rescued by governmental authorities. Access to public financing has been 
negatively impacted by sub-prime mortgage defaults in the United States, the liquidity crisis affecting the asset-backed 
commercial paper and collateralized debt obligation markets, massive investment losses by banks with resultant 
recapitalization efforts and a deterioration in the global economy. 
 
Although economic conditions showed improvement towards the latter portion of 2009 and in 2010, the recovery from the 
recession since then has been slow in various jurisdictions including in Europe and the United States and has been impacted 
by various ongoing factors including sovereign debt levels and high levels of unemployment which continue to impact 
commodity prices and which have resulted in high volatility in currencies and global debt and stock markets. 
 
These factors may impact the Company's ability to obtain equity, debt or bank financing on terms commercially reasonable 
to the Company, or at all. Additionally, these factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that 
are deemed to be other than temporary, which may result in impairment losses. If these increased levels of volatility and 
market turmoil continue, the Company's operations could be adversely impacted and the trading price of the Company's 
securities could continue to be adversely affected. 
 
Acquisition Risk 
 
A component of the Company’s strategy is to selectively acquire or invest in specialty sectors that will enhance its 
production capacity, advance our technological capability, expand our customer base or extend our geographic reach. 
Acquisitions involve numerous risks in addition to those otherwise specified herein as applicable to the Company, including 
the expenses incurred in connection with the acquisition, the difficulties in assimilating operations, the diversion of 
management's attention from other business concerns and the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company. 
Acquisitions of foreign companies involve the additional risks of assimilating differences in foreign business practices, 
hiring and retaining qualified personnel and overcoming language barriers. It is also possible that with any future 
acquisitions, the Company will assume the problems of the acquired entity. There is no assurance that the Company will 
successfully integrate future acquisitions into its operations, be able to complete such transactions or be able to complete 
them on favourable financial terms. 
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In January 2012, Fortress, through a wholly owned subsidiary, entered into the APA to acquire  assets relating to the LSQ 
Mill. The closing of the APA is subject to various conditions as summarized under the heading "Subsequent Events". 
 
There is no assurance that these and other conditions in the APA will be satisfied or waived or that the APA will be 
completed. As definitive agreements have not yet been entered into with respect to all of the financing initiatives for the 
conversion of the LSQ Mill, there can be no assurance that the necessary financing will be secured on terms acceptable to 
Fortress or at all. Further, if the APA is completed, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to implement its 
business plan at the LSQ Mill as planned or at all, or that if implemented, the dissolving pulp operation and cogeneration 
expansion project will be successful or profitable or meet anticipated production capacities. Assuming the APA is completed, 
the Company expects to incur significant costs relating to the conversion of the LSQ Mill and the expansion of the 
cogeneration facility, and this process may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures. The implementation 
of the Company’s business plan at the LSQ Mill will also require significant management resources. To the extent that the 
Company miscalculates its ability to implement its business plan and properly manage the development of the LSQ Mill or 
the cogeneration facility, the Company may have difficulty in achieving its operating and strategic objectives. In addition, 
the Company may not realize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition of the LSQ Mill. 
 
Financial Risk Management  

 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk).  

 
(a) Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk relating to 
accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each 
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
customers. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on deposit with an original maturity date of 90 days or less. In order to 
mitigate the risk of financial loss, cash on deposit is held with major Canadian and international financial 
institutions.  The cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2011 was $22.8 million (2010: $42.6 
million).   

 
The Company utilizes a combination of credit insurance and factoring to manage the risk associated with trade 
receivables.  Approximately 81% of the outstanding trade receivables are covered under credit insurance or 
backed by letters of credit.  The majority of the balance is with large and financially sound customers.  The 
Company sells all pulp through a third party agent that takes ownership of the inventory before it is delivered to 
the final customer.  Accounts receivable aged greater than 90 days are $0.2 million and are considered collectable. 
The Company’s trade receivable balance at December 31, 2011 was $10.6 million (2010: $10.6 million).  
 
The Company has entered into sales contracts for approximately 78% of intended output of its dissolving pulp 
operations with floor and ceiling prices based on the price of dissolving pulp and viscose, which is the main 
product for which dissolving pulp is used.  The floor and ceiling prices are considered closely related to the price 
of dissolving pulp for accounting purposes.  The contracts end in 2016 and 2021.   
 
(b) Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they become due.  
Cash flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the group in and aggregated by group finance. 
Group finance monitors rolling forecasts of the group’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to 
meet operational needs while not breaching borrowing limits or covenants.  The Company manages liquidity risk 
through management of its capital structure in conjunction with cash flow forecasting including anticipated 
investing and financing activities. 
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At December 31, 2011, the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaled $86.1 million (2010: $38.8 
million), all of which fall due for payment within one year of the balance sheet date. 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of accounts receivable balances and the 
management of its cash and debt positions.   
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that current cash, cash generated from operations, tax credits, 
proceeds from the divestiture of non-core assets, together with amounts available under its existing or new credit 
facilities will be sufficient to meet its debt service, capital expenditure and short term working capital requirements. 
See "Liquidity and Capital Resources". 

 
(c) Market Risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in interest rates and foreign currency. 
 
(i) Interest rate risk: 
 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its financial assets and financial obligations bearing 
variable interest rates. The Company believes that interest rate fluctuations would not have a significant 
impact on net income. 
 
The Company manages interest rate risk by maximizing the interest earned on excess funds while maintaining 
the liquidity necessary to meet day-to-day operating cash flow requirements.  The Company currently does 
not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. 

 
(ii) Currency risk: 
 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily in Euros, Swiss Francs, and American dollars. 
The Company’s products are sold globally with prices denominated primarily in Euros, Swiss Francs and 
American dollars.  The majority of the Company’s expenditures are denominated in Euros, Swiss Francs and 
Canadian dollars. In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities in the local operating 
currencies.     
 
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company did not use derivative 
instruments to reduce its exposure to currency risk for sales denominated in a foreign currency.   
 

(d) Earnings Sensitivity 
 
The Company has completed a sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact on net income for the year that a change 
in foreign exchange rates or interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2011 would have had. 

 
This sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions: 

 
• Changes in individual foreign exchange rates do not cause foreign exchange in other countries to alter 
• Changes in market interest rates do not cause a change in foreign exchange rates 

 
The results of the foreign exchange sensitivity analysis can be seen in the following table: 

 
 Impact on net income 
Change of + 1% in CHF foreign exchange rate - $0.3 million 
Change of + 1% in EUR foreign exchange rate + $0.3 million 
Change of + 1% in USD foreign exchange rate + $0.9 million 
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The above results arise due to the combined impact of foreign currency fluctuations on operations and the 
translation of operations into the Company’s functional currency. The currency risk is partially mitigated by both 
revenues and expenses being denominated in local currencies in Landqart and Dresden. Fortress will continue to 
monitor and evaluate the future use of exchange contracts to limit exposure to exchange fluctuations.    
 
Limitations of sensitivity analysis 
 
The financial position of the Company may vary at the time that a change in the factors occurs, causing the impact 
on the Company’s results to differ from that shown above. 

 
Disclosure Controls and Internal Controls over Financial Reporting  
 
The Company has established disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that information disclosed in this MD&A and the 
related financial statements was properly recorded, processed, summarized and reported to the Board of Directors and the 
Audit Committee.  The Company’s chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”) have evaluated the 
effectiveness of these disclosure controls and procedures for the year ending December 31, 2011, and have concluded that 
they are effective. 
 
The CEO and CFO acknowledge responsibility for the design of internal controls over financial reporting (“ICFR”), and 
confirm that there were no changes in these controls that occurred during the year ended December 31, 2011 which 
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s ICFR.  Based upon their evaluation of these 
controls for the year ended December 31, 2011, the CEO and CFO have concluded that these controls are operating 
effectively. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
Fortress Paper Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Fortress Paper Ltd. and its
subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010 and the consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive
income (loss), changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Fortress Paper Ltd. and its subsidiaries as at December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 and
January 1, 2010 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011
and December 31, 2010 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

(signed) PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Accountants

March 2, 2012



 
FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
 (Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
ASSETS     
Current     
Cash and cash equivalents   22,897   42,559        33,205     
Trade accounts receivable  8 10,619 10,616 18,034 
Other accounts receivable 9 54,930 20,615 2,614 
Inventories  10 62,151 41,164 26,064 
Prepaid expenses  2,032 1,755 873 
  152,629 116,709 80,790 
     
Restricted cash   553 1,362 45 
Property, plant and equipment  11 340,349 186,774 66,861 
Employee future benefits  12 − 1,768 809 
     
Total assets  493,531   306,613     148,505   
     
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY     
Current     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 13 86,114   38,878       22,447     
Income taxes payable  14 2,224 3,503 4,446 
Current portion of long-term debt  15 14,459 8,977 5,378 
  102,797 51,358 32,271 
     
Long-term debt  15 137,949 45,758 18,039 
Deferred income taxes  14 14,688 18,526 3,227 
Provisions  16 − 185 − 
Employee future benefits 12 6,458 − − 
Total liabilities  261,892 115,827 53,537 
 
Shareholders' equity 

    

Share capital  17 175,200 111,148 59,083 
Contributed surplus  13,010 10,536 3,198 
Accumulated other comprehensive income  2,688 1,909 − 
Retained earnings    40,741 67,193 32,687 
Total shareholders' equity   231,639 190,786 94,968 
     
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity  493,531  306,613    148,505    
     
Commitments 22    

(See accompanying notes) 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors: 
  

“Chadwick Wasilenkoff” 
 

Director 

“Richard Whittall” 
 

Director 
 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

For the years ended 
 (Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 

December 31,  
2011 

$ 

December 31,  
2010 

$ 
    
Sales  308,913 281,287 
    
Costs and expenses    
Cost of products sold  (268,238) (230,165) 
Amortization  (14,363) (8,584) 
Selling, general and administration  (37,375) (33,602) 
Stock-based compensation  18 (1,900) (7,594) 
Operating (loss) income   (12,963) 1,342 
 
Other income (expense) 

   

Finance expense  19 (4,016) (1,089) 
Finance income  19 293 265 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)    1,395 (2,237) 
Fair value gain on acquisition 6 − 41,804 
Net (loss) income before income taxes  (15,291) 40,085 
Income tax expense  14 (3,939) (6,220) 
Net (loss) income for the year  (19,230) 33,865 
    
(Loss) earnings per share  $   (1.37) $    3.00 
Diluted (loss) earnings per share  $   (1.37) $    2.74 
 
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 

   

Basic  14,055,030 11,283,646 
Diluted  14,055,030 12,357,299 
 
  

(See accompanying notes) 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 

For the years ended 
 (Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 December 31,  

2011 
$ 

December 31,  
2010 

$ 
   
Net income (loss) for the year (19,230) 33,865 
   
Other comprehensive income (loss)   
Cumulative translation adjustment 779 1,909 
Actuarial loss recognized on employee future benefits (net of taxes of $1,455 and           
$318) (7,227) (1,582) 
Asset limit on employee future benefits (net of taxes of ($1) and ($447)) 5 2,223 
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year (6,443) 2,550 
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year (25,673) 36,415 
   

 
(See accompanying notes) 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 
 

Note 
Share capital 

$ 

Contributed 
surplus 

$ 

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive 
income (loss) 

$ 

Retained 
earnings 

$ 
Total equity 

$ 
       
Balance – December 31, 2010  111,148 10,536 1,909 67,193 190,786 
       
Net loss for the year  − − − (19,230) (19,230) 
Other comprehensive loss (net of tax)  − − (6,443) − (6,443) 
Comprehensive loss for the year  − − (6,443) (19,230) (25,673) 
Employee future benefit adjustments moved to 

retained earnings 
 

− − 7,222 (7,222) − 
Employee share options: 18      

Stock-based compensation  − 1,900 − − 1,900 
Restricted Share Units vested  1,013 (1,013) − − − 
Options exercised  974 (269) − − 705 

Redemption of convertible note  15 7,283 (948) − − 6,335 
Private placement  17 54,782 − − − 54,782 
Convertible debt  − 2,804 − − 2,804 
Balance – December 31, 2011  175,200 13,010 2,688 40,741 231,639 
       
       
Balance – January 1, 2010  59,083 3,198 − 32,687 94,968 
       
Net income for the year  − − − 33,865 33,865 
Other comprehensive income (net of tax)  − − 2,550 − 2,550 
Comprehensive income for the year  − − 2,550 33,865 36,415 
Employee future benefit adjustments moved to      
     retained earnings 

 
− − (641) 641 − 

Employee share options: 18      
Stock-based compensation  − 7,594 − − 7,594 
Deferred Share Units paid in cash  − (93) − − (93) 
Restricted Share Units vested  684 (684) − − − 
Deferred Share Units vested  − (151) − − (151) 
Options exercised  958 (278) − − 680 

Private placement  42,347 − − − 42,347 
Convertible note  − 2,031 − − 2,031 
Shares issued on redemption  of convertible note  8,076 (1,081) − − 6,995 
Balance – December 31, 2010  111,148 10,536 1,909 67,193 190,786 
       
       

 
(See accompanying notes) 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

For the years ended 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands) 

 

Note 

December 
31, 2011 

$ 

December 
31, 2010 

$ 
    
Cash flows (used by) from operating activities    
Net (loss) income   (19,230) 33,865 
Adjustments:    

 Amortization  14,363 8,584 
 Income tax expense  3,939 6,220 
 Income taxes paid  (9,441) (7,497) 
 Foreign exchange (gain) loss  (992) 1,946 
 Finance expense  2,838 2,027 
 Fair value gain on acquisition  6 − (41,804) 
 Stock-based compensation  1,900 7,594 

  (6,623) 10,935 
Change in non-cash working capital items    

Accounts receivable   (14,550) (7,239) 
Inventories   (21,186) (9,956) 
Prepaid expenses  (292) (897) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other  19,919 7,203 

  (22,732) 46 
    
Cash flows from (used by) financing activities     
Options exercised  705 680 
Repayment of long-term debt   (10,381) (3,911) 
Proceeds from long-term debt   112,234 38,977 
Net proceeds from issuance of common shares  54,782 42,347 
Payment on capital leases  (202) (242) 
Deferred Share Units vesting  − (244) 
Payment of long-term debt interest  (2,306) (1,993) 
  154,832 75,614 
    
Cash flows (used by) investing activities    
Additions to property, plant and equipment   (162,161) (60,023) 
Restricted cash   858 (570) 
Proceeds from Green Transformation Program  21 8,912 − 
Acquisition of Thurso pulp mill  6 − (3,000) 
Acquisition of Fortress Optical Features  7 (750) − 
  (153,141) (63,593) 
    
Increase (decrease) in cash position   (21,041) 12,067 
Foreign exchange loss on cash and cash equivalents  1,379 (2,713) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   42,559 33,205 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   22,897 42,559 
    
Supplementary cash flow information  25   
    

(See accompanying notes) 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS  

Fortress Paper Ltd. (the "Company" or “Fortress”) was incorporated on May 30, 2006 under the laws of the 
Province of British Columbia, Canada.  The Company is a public limited Company, which is listed on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange.  The address of its registered office is 157 Chadwick Court, North Vancouver, British Columbia, 
Canada, V7M 3K2. From the date of incorporation to July 31, 2006, the Company was inactive. The Company's 
fiscal year-end is December 31.  Fortress owns and operates two paper mills, the Landqart mill located in 
Switzerland and the Dresden mill located in Germany, and a pulp mill in Canada.  Fortress’ security papers include 
banknote, passport and visa papers.  The security papers produced at the Landqart mill incorporate internationally 
recognized overt and covert security features which are embedded into the paper and supplemented with customer-
specific features.  The Landqart mill has leveraged its extensive security papers competence to develop additional 
commercial applications using its in-house know-how and technology of security features to create innovative paper-
based security products.  Fortress’ specialty papers business includes non-woven wallpaper base products, as well as 
graphic and technical papers.  The Dresden mill produces coated and uncoated wallpaper base for wallpaper 
manufacturers.  The pulp mill, Fortress Specialty Cellulose, has been converted into a dissolving pulp mill and at 
year end 2011, was in the process of ramp up.    

2.        BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ADOPTION OF IFRS 

The Company prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”) as set out in the Handbook of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA 
Handbook”). In 2010, the CICA Handbook was revised to incorporate International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”), and require publicly accountable enterprises to apply such standards effective for years beginning on or 
after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company has commenced reporting on this basis in these consolidated 
financial statements. In these financial statements, the term “Canadian GAAP” refers to Canadian GAAP before the 
adoption of IFRS. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS applicable to the preparation 
of financial statements as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of 
the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Subject to certain transition elections 
disclosed in Note 5, the Company has consistently applied the same accounting policies in its opening IFRS 
statement of financial position at January 1, 2010 and throughout all years presented, as if these policies had always 
been in effect. Note 5 discloses the impact of the transition to IFRS on the Company's reported financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows, including the nature and effect of significant changes in accounting policies 
from those used in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010 under 
Canadian GAAP.  

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis as modified by the revaluation 
of available-for-sale financial assets, and financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions 
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3. 

The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued and outstanding as of 
December 31, 2011.  The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of 
the Company on March 2, 2012.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of presentation 

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and, from their respective dates of 
acquisition of control or formation, its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

Foreign currency translation 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each consolidated entity are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. 

The financial statements of entities that have a functional currency other than Canadian dollars (“foreign 
operations”) are translated into Canadian dollars as follows: assets and liabilities – at the closing rate at the date of 
the statement of financial position, and income and expenses – using actual rates in place at the time or an average 
rate if it is considered a reasonable approximation.  All resulting changes are recognized in other comprehensive 
income as cumulative translation adjustments. 

When an entity disposes of its entire interest in a foreign operation, or loses control, joint control, or significant 
influence over a foreign operation, the foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in other comprehensive income 
related to the foreign operation are recognized in profit or loss. If an entity disposes of part of an interest in a foreign 
operation which remains a subsidiary, a proportionate amount of foreign currency gains or losses accumulated in 
other comprehensive income related to the subsidiary are reallocated between controlling and non-controlling 
interests. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions. Generally, foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign 
currency transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than an operation’s functional currency are recognized in the statement of 
operations. 

Consolidation 
 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Company has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting rights.  

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company. They are de- 
consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

The Company applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred 
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former 
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owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Company. The consideration transferred includes the 
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values 
at the acquisition date.  

 
 Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
 Inter-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Company companies are 

eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-Company transactions that are recognised in assets are also 
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Company.   

Cash and cash equivalents 

The Company considers cash, cash in banks, and deposits with financial institutions with original maturities of three 
months or less and that can be liquidated without prior notice or penalty, to be cash or cash equivalents. 

Trade accounts receivable 

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If not, they are 
presented as non-current assets. 

Trade receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. 

Financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership.   
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
At initial recognition, the Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories depending on the 
purpose for which the instruments were acquired: 
 
(i) Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: A financial asset or liability is classified in 

this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the short term. Derivatives 
are also included in this category unless they are designated as hedges. The Company does not hold any 
instruments in this category. 
 
Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially and subsequently at fair value. Transaction 
costs are expensed in the statement of operations. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 
presented in the statement of operations within other gains and losses in the year in which they arise. 
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Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as current except for the 
portion expected to be realized or paid beyond 12 months of the statement of financial position date, which 
is classified as non-current. 

 
(ii) Available-for-sale investments: Available-for-sale investments are non-derivatives that are either designated 

in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. The Company does not hold any instruments 
in this category. 
 
Available-for-sale investments are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in other 
comprehensive income. Available-for-sale investments are classified as non-current, unless the investment 
matures within 12 months, or management expects to dispose of them within 12 months. 
 
Interest on available-for-sale investments, calculated using the effective interest method, is recognized in the 
statement of operations as part of interest income. Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are 
recognized in the statement of operations as part of other gains and losses when the Company’s right to 
receive payment is established. When an available-for-sale investment is sold or impaired, the accumulated 
gains or losses are moved from accumulated other comprehensive income to the statement of operations and 
included in other gains and losses. 
 

(iii) Loans and receivables: Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables 
comprise trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, and cash and cash equivalents, and are 
included in current assets due to their short-term nature.  The Company also classifies restricted cash as 
loans and receivables, which is classified as a non-current asset.  Loans and receivables are initially 
recognized at the amount expected to be received less, when material, a discount to reduce the loans and 
receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method less a provision for impairment. 

 
The Company transfers trade receivables under certain financial institution sponsored revolving 
securitization programs. Because the Company transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the factored receivables, it derecognizes the carrying amount of these receivables as the 
cash is received.  
 

(iv) Financial liabilities at amortized cost: Financial liabilities at amortized cost include trade payables and 
long-term debt. Trade payables are initially recognized at the amount required to be paid less, when 
material, a discount to reduce the payables to fair value. Subsequently, trade payables are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method.  Long-term debt is recognized initially at fair value, 
net of any transaction costs incurred, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within 12 months. Otherwise, 
they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 

(v) Derivative financial instruments: The Company does not hold any derivative financial instruments or 
have any embedded derivative financial instruments which are not closely related to the host contract. 
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Government assistance 

 
Government assistance relating to the acquisition of property, plant and equipment is recorded as a reduction of the 
cost of the asset to which it relates, with any amortization calculated on the net amount. Government assistance 
related to non-capital projects is recorded as a reduction of the related expenses. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value.  The cost of finished goods and work-in-
progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and related production overheads including 
applicable amortization on property, plant and equipment.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of completion and selling expenses. 

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated amortization. 

No amortization is charged on major improvements or expansions until the asset is ready for its intended use. 
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only 
when it is probably that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company.  The carrying 
amount of the replaced part is derecognized.  Maintenance, repairs and minor replacements are expensed 
as incurred.  The carrying amount of a replaced asset is derecognized when it is replaced. 

Property, plant and equipment are principally amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 

 
Buildings 10-50 years 
Manufacturing equipment and machinery 5-20 years 
Fixtures and other equipment 3-10 years 

 
The Company allocates the amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment to its 
significant components and amortizes each such part separately.  Residual values, methods of amortization and 
useful lives are reviewed at year end and adjusted if appropriate.   

Borrowings 
 
Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
carried at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognized in the statement of operations over the year of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
 
Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is 
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down 
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the 
fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity services and amortized over the year of the facility to which it 
relates. 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting year. 
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Trade accounts payable 
 
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of 
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or 
less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities. 
 
Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective 
interest method. 

Compound financial instruments 
 
Compound financial instruments issued by the Company comprise convertible notes that can be converted to share 
capital at the option of the holder, and the number of shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair 
value. 
 
The liability component of a compound financial instrument is recognized initially at the fair value of a similar 
liability that does not have an equity conversion option. The equity component is recognized initially at the 
difference between the fair value of the compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of the liability 
component. Any directly attributable transaction costs are allocated to the liability and equity components in 
proportion to their initial carrying amounts. 
 
Subsequent to initial recognition, the liability component of a compound financial instrument is measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest method. The equity component of a compound financial instrument is not 
re-measured subsequent to initial recognition except on conversion or expiry. 

Share capital 
 
Common shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new common shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 
 
Impairment of long-lived assets 
 
The Company reviews property, plant, and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash generating units).  The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use (being the present value of 
the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or cash generating unit).  An impairment loss is recognized for 
the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.   
 
 
Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets are added to the cost 
of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use.  All other borrowing costs 
are recognized as interest expense in the statement of operations in the year in which they are incurred. 
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Employee future benefits 

Employees of companies included in these consolidated financial statements have entitlements under Company 
pension plans which are either defined contribution or defined benefit pension plans.  These plans take different 
forms depending on the legal regime of each country.   

For the Company’s defined contribution pension plan, contributions are recognized as employee benefit expense 
when they are due. 

For the Company’s defined benefit pension plan the following policies have been adopted: 

• The measurement date used for accounting purposes is December 31; 

• The cost of pensions earned by employees is actuarially determined using the projected unit credit method 
pro-rated on service and management's estimate of expected plan investment performance, salary escalation 
and retirement ages of employees; 

• The discount rate applied in arriving at the present value of the pension liability represents yields on high 
quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the pension liability; 

• For the purpose of calculating the expected return on plan assets, those assets are valued at fair value; 

• The related net pension liability recognized in the statement of financial position is the fair value of the plan 
assets less the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the statement of financial position date; and 

• Actuarial gains and losses are recognized in full in the year in which they occur, in other comprehensive 
income (loss) and retained earnings, without recycling to the statement of operations in subsequent years. 

Income taxes 

Income taxes comprise current and deferred taxes.  Income tax is recognized in the statement of operations except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss) or equity, in which case 
the income tax is recognized directly in other comprehensive income (loss) or equity, respectively.   

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted, or substantively 
enacted, at the end of the reporting year in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries operate and 
generate taxable income.  The Company periodically evaluates the position taken and establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.   

Deferred tax is recognized, using the liability method, in respect of temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  Deferred income 
tax is determined on a non-discounted basis using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the statement of financial position date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax asset or liability is settled. 
 Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the assets can be recovered.   

Deferred income tax is provided for taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries 
except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the 
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the extent that it is 
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probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences 
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are presented as non-current and are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset tax assets against tax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.     

Earnings (loss) per share 

Basic earnings (loss) per share are computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
during the year. Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated giving effect to the potential dilution that would 
occur if securities or other contracts to issue common shares were exercised or converted to common shares using 
the treasury stock method.  The treasury stock method assumes that proceeds received from the exercise of stock 
options and warrants are used to repurchase common shares at the prevailing market rate.  Diluted earnings per share 
for convertible debt assumes the debt has been converted at the beginning of the period or, if later, the date of the 
issue of the convertible debt.   

Stock-based compensation 

The Company grants stock options and other share-based awards to certain employees. Each tranche in an award is 
considered a separate award with its own vesting year and grant date fair value.  The fair value of each tranche is 
measured at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The value of stock options granted to 
directors and officers is recorded as stock-based compensation and credited to contributed surplus over the relevant 
vesting year.  Any consideration received on the exercise of stock options is credited to share capital and the 
appropriate original fair value is reallocated from contributed surplus to share capital.     

Performance options and share awards based on certain conditions are recognized when it is considered likely that 
the performance condition will be achieved. 

Revenue and related cost recognition 

The Company recognizes revenue from product sales when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the sales 
price is fixed or determinable, title of ownership and risk of loss have passed to the customer and collectability is 
reasonably assured. Sales are reported net of discounts and allowances. Amounts charged to customers for shipping 
and handling are recognized as revenue.  Shipping and handling costs incurred by the Company are included in cost 
of products sold.  The Company does not have any multiple element revenue arrangements.   

Development costs 

Expenditure incurred in the development of products or enhancements to existing product ranges is capitalized as an 
intangible asset only when the future economic benefits expected to arise are deemed probable and the costs can be 
reliably measured. Development costs not meeting these criteria are expensed in the statement of operations as 
incurred. Capitalized development costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic 
lives once the product or enhancement is available for use. Product research costs are written off as incurred. 
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Leases 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are 
charged to the statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the year of the lease. 

The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Company has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalized at the lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. 
 
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net 
of finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to 
the statement of operations over the lease year so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each year. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases are amortized 
over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term. 

 
Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with IFRS requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying 
notes. Significant estimates are used for, but not limited to, the provision for doubtful accounts, inventory valuation, 
amortization, asset recoverability, derivative financial instruments, fair valuation of acquired assets, pensions and 
post-retirement obligations, provisions, stock compensation, income taxes and contingencies. Actual results could 
differ from these estimates. 
 

Segmented reporting 
 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to management and the 
Board of Directors. The Company’s operations are managed and reported internally on a divisional basis that 
reflects the different characteristics of each business. These divisions have been disclosed as reportable segments 
because they are the components that the Board monitors regularly in making decisions about operating matters such 
as allocating resources to businesses and assessing performance.  
 

Provisions 

Provisions for cleanup of landfill sites and legal claims, where applicable, are recognized as liabilities when the 
Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount can be reliably estimated.  Provisions 
are measured at management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting year, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 
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4. NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 

The following IFRS have been issued by the IASB, and adopted for use in Canada by the Accounting Standards 
Board: 

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments 

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments.  This standard addresses classification and 
measurement of financial assets and replaces the multiple category and measurement models in International 
Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 39 for debt instruments with a new mixed measurement model having only two 
categories: amortized cost and fair value through profit or loss.  IFRS 9 also replaces the models for measuring 
equity instruments with recognition at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other comprehensive 
earnings.   

IFRS 9 is effective for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2015.  The Company is currently assessing the 
impact of this standard on the financial statements. 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements.  IFRS 10 establishes principles for the 
presentation and preparation of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. 
This IFRS defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are 
consolidated in an entity’s consolidated financial statements. IFRS 10 sets out three elements of control: a) power 
over the investee; b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement with the investee; and c) the ability to 
use power over the investee to affect the amount of the investor’s return. IFRS 10 sets out the requirements on how 
to apply the control principle. IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 supersede IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and SIC-12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

This standard is effective for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted if 
adopted along with IFRS 11, IFRS 12, IAS 27 (revised) and IAS 28 (revised). The Company is currently assessing 
the impact of this standard on the financial statements. 

IFRS 11 – Joint Arrangements 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements, which provides guidance on accounting for joint 
arrangements. If an arrangement has joint control, IFRS 11 classifies joint arrangements as either joint operations or 
joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties involved.  

A joint operation is an arrangement where the jointly controlling parties have rights to the assets and obligations in 
respect of the liabilities relating to the arrangement. An entity accounts for a joint operation by recognizing its 
portion of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. A joint venture is an arrangement where the jointly 
controlling parties have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. A joint venture is accounted for using the equity 
method. Proportionate consolidation is no longer permitted. 

This standard is effective for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted.  
This standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the financial statements as Fortress currently has no 
joint arrangements. 
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IFRS 12 – Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities.  IFRS 12 outlines the disclosure 
requirements for interests in subsidiaries and other entities to enable users to evaluate the risks associated with 
interests in other entities and the effects of those interests on an entity’s financial position, financial performance 
and cash flows. IFRS 10 and IFRS 12 supersede IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and SIC-
12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities. 

This standard is effective for annual years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted.  The 
Company is currently assessing the impact of this standard on the financial statements. 

IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement 

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. This standard defines fair value, sets out a single 
IFRS framework for measuring fair value and outlines disclosure requirements about fair value measurements. IFRS 
13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value is a market-based measurement, not an 
entity-specific measurement, so assumptions that market participants would use should be applied in measuring fair 
value.  

This standard is effective for annual years on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier application permitted. This IFRS 
is to be applied prospectively as of the beginning of the annual year in which it is initially applied and the disclosure 
requirements do not need to be applied in comparative years before initial application.  The Company is currently 
assessing the impact of this standard on the financial statements. 

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements 

IAS 1 has been amended to require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) into 
two groups, based on whether or not items may be recycled to net income in the future.  Entities that choose to 
present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to the two groups separately.  The 
amendment is effective for annual years beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with earlier application permitted.  IAS 1 
is not expected to have a material impact on amounts recorded in the financial statements of the Company.   

IAS 19 – Employee Benefits 

In June 2011, the IASB issued an amended version of IAS 19, Employee Benefits. The amendments to IAS 19 are 
meant to improve the quality, transparency and comparability of information presented for post-employment 
benefits. For defined benefit plans, the amendments eliminate the option to defer actuarial gains and losses on the 
statement of financial position through the “corridor method”. The amendments also require any remeasurement 
gains or losses, including actuarial gains and losses, to be recognized immediately and presented in OCI, eliminating 
the option to recognize and present these through the income statement. Additional disclosures will also be required 
to present better information about the characteristics, amounts recognized, and risks related to defined benefit 
plans.  

The amendments to IAS 19 are effective for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with earlier 
adoption permitted.  The Company is currently assessing the impact of these amendments on the financial 
statements. 
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5. TRANSITION TO IFRS 

The effect of the Company’s transition to IFRS, as described in Note 2, is summarized in this note as follows: 

(i) Transition elections   

The Company has applied the following transition exemptions to full retrospective application of IFRS: 

 
 As described in 

Note 5 (ii) 
Deemed cost of property, plant and equipment a 
Employee benefits – treatment of actuarial gains and losses b 
Cumulative translation adjustment c 
Business combinations d 
Borrowing costs  e 
  
  

(ii) Reconciliation of equity and comprehensive income as previously reported under Canadian GAAP to 
IFRS 

 
 

Ref 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
Equity    
    
Equity as reported under Canadian GAAP  180,266 86,584     
IFRS adjustments increase (decrease):    

Foreign exchange on property, plant and equipment a 3,321 2,176 
Foreign exchange on inventory a (23) (816) 
Employee future benefits – actuarial gains and losses b (8,753) (6,295) 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation f 16,833 16,833 
Employee future benefits – asset limit g (43) (2,784) 
Deferred income tax h (1,572) (1,199) 
Deferred expenses i − (476) 
Long-term debt revaluation j 757 945 

    
Equity as reported under IFRS  190,786 94,968 

 
 

Ref 

Year ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

Comprehensive income   
   
As reported under Canadian GAAP  34,753       

   
Increase (decrease) in net income for:   
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Deferred income tax h (141) 
Deferred expenses i 476 
Interest expense j (222) 
Foreign exchange on translation of foreign operations k (613) 
Amortization and other k 52 
Stock-based compensation l (227) 
Redemption of convertible note m (246) 
Employee future benefits n 33 

  33,865 
Increase (decrease) in comprehensive income for:   

Cumulative translation adjustment k 1,909 
Employee future benefits – actuarial gains and losses b (1,582) 
Employee future benefits – asset limit g 2,223 

  2,550 
As reported under IFRS  36,415 

(a) Under IFRS, non-monetary statement of financial position items denominated in a foreign currency are translated 
into the functional currency of the Company using the exchange rate in place at the statement of financial position 
date for foreign subsidiaries being consolidated.  Under Canadian GAAP, non-monetary balance sheet items for 
integrated subsidiaries were translated using historical rates.  Property, plant and equipment and inventory in 
Germany and Switzerland have been revalued for IFRS using the exchange rates in place as at the statement of 
financial position date. 

(b) Under IFRS, the Company recognizes actuarial gains and losses arising from the re-measurement of employee future 
benefit obligations in other comprehensive income as they arise.  Under Canadian GAAP, the Company applied the 
corridor method of accounting for such gains and losses.  Under this method, gains and losses are recognized only if 
they exceed specified thresholds.  The carrying value of the net asset for employee future benefits was reduced by 
$6,295 as at January 1, 2010 to recognize previously unamortized accumulated actuarial gains and losses.    
Actuarial losses of $1,900 previously unrecognized under Canadian GAAP were recognized for the year ended 
December 31, 2010 for IFRS.   

(c) In accordance with IFRS transitional provisions, the Company has elected to reset the cumulative translation 
adjustment account, which includes gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign operations, to zero at 
the date of transition to IFRS.  Under Canadian GAAP, the cumulative translation adjustment was also zero based 
on foreign subsidiaries being treated as integrated operations.  As such, no adjustment is necessary to 
retroactively restate the cumulative translation adjustment account as at the date of transition to IFRS. 

(d) In accordance with IFRS transitional provisions, the Company elected to apply IFRS relating to business 
combinations prospectively from January 1, 2010.  As such, Canadian GAAP balances relating to business 
combinations entered into before that date have been carried forward without adjustment.    

(e) In accordance with IFRS transitional provisions, the Company has elected to apply IFRS relating to borrowing 
costs prospectively from January 1, 2010.  As such, Canadian GAAP balances relating to long-term debt 
arrangements entered into for the construction of property, plant and equipment before that date have been 
carried forward without adjustment. 
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(f) In accordance with IFRS transitional provisions, the Company elected to revalue land in Germany and Switzerland 

by $16,833 to its fair value as at January 1, 2010.  There has been no corresponding change to income or 
accumulated amortization. 

(g) Under IFRS, IFRIC 14 provides specific guidance on the calculation of the amount of an employee future benefit 
asset a Company can recognize.  Based on this guidance, the employee future benefit recognized on the statement 
of financial position of the Company will be $809 as at January 1, 2010 and $1,768 as at December 31, 2010. 

(h) Deferred income tax liabilities have been adjusted to give effect to adjustments as follows: 

 

Ref 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
    

Property, plant and equipment revaluation a    3,273        2,932     
Employee future benefits – actuarial gains and losses b (1,588) (1,201) 
Employee future benefits – asset limit g (113) (532) 

     1,572         1,199      
 

Under IFRS, deferred income tax amounts related to actuarial gains and losses on employee future benefits and the 
limit on the asset for employee future benefits are recognized by the Company in other comprehensive income.  
Under Canadian GAAP, deferred income tax amounts related to employee future benefits were recorded in net 
income.       

(i) Under IFRS, all acquisition related costs of the acquirer in a business combination must be accounted for as 
expenses in the year in which they were incurred.  Under Canadian GAAP, incremental costs that were directly 
attributable to the purchase were included in the purchase price.  As a result of this change, the Company has 
charged $476 in deferred expenses previously recognized as an asset under Canadian GAAP directly to equity as at 
January 1, 2010.  Net income was increased by $476 for the year ended December 31, 2010 as a result of this 
change. 

(j) Upon conversion to IFRS, a non-interest bearing loan with a principal amount of $5,366 was valued at amortized 
cost of $4,440 using an imputed interest rate of 5%, resulting in a decrease in long-term debt and an increase in 
retained earnings of $945 as at January 1, 2010.  The imputed interest expense was $222 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010. 

(k) Under IFRS, The financial statements of entities that have a functional currency other than Canadian (“foreign 
operations”) are translated into Canadian dollars as follows: assets and liabilities – at the closing rate at the date of 
the statement of financial position, and income and expenses – using actual rates in place at the time or an average 
rate if it is considered a reasonable approximation.  All resulting changes are recognized in other comprehensive 
income as cumulative translation adjustments.   

Under Canadian GAAP, monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the date of the statement 
of financial position with translation adjustments being recognized in income.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
are translated using historical foreign exchange rates.  Amortization related to property, plant and equipment was 
translated at historical foreign exchange rates.  All other income and expense items were translated using average 
exchange rates for the year. 
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As such, amortization expense and property, plant and equipment were decreased by $52 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.    

Other comprehensive income was increased by $1,915 for the year ended December 31, 2010 to record a cumulative 
translation adjustment.    

(l)  Under IFRS, when share-based payment awards vest in installments over the vesting year (graded vesting), each 
installment is accounted for as a separate arrangement.  This treatment is allowed under Canadian GAAP but was 
not used by the Company.  The Company’s former policy under Canadian GAAP was to recognize stock-based 
compensation on a straight-line basis over the vesting year.  This change in treatment has resulted in an increase 
to contributed surplus and a decrease in retained earnings of $110 for share-based awards that were issued to 
officers of the Company but had not fully vested as at January 1, 2010.   For the year ended December 31, 2010, 
the Company recorded a decrease in contributed surplus and a decrease in stock-based compensation of $227. 

(m) Under IFRS, the conversion of the convertible note is treated as an increase in share capital with no gain or loss 
recorded.  Under Canadian GAAP, the liability and equity components were re-valued at the time of conversion with 
a gain or loss recognized in income and an adjustment made to retained earnings.  As such, during the year ended 
December 31, 2010 retained earnings was increased by $166 and income was decreased by $246 as a result of the 
partial conversion of a convertible note on October 1, 2010.  Share capital was increased by $80 for the year ended 
December 31, 2010.  

(n) Under IFRS, the Company has chosen an accounting policy for employee future benefits that recognizes all actuarial 
gains and losses in other comprehensive income in the year in which they occur.  Under Canadian GAAP, the 
Company amortized these gains and losses to income using the corridor method.   

(iii) Adjustments to the statements of cash flows 

The transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS had no significant impact on cash flows generated by the Company.  
The IFRS transition adjustments did not have an impact on cash and cash equivalents. 

 

6. ACQUISITION OF THURSO PULP MILL  

On April 30, 2010, the Company completed the purchase of a northern bleached hardwood kraft pulp mill located in 
Thurso, Quebec through a wholly owned subsidiary, Fortress Specialty Cellulose Inc. (“Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose” or “FSC”), for $3 million.  The Company has since converted the Thurso operations into a dissolving 
pulp mill.   

The recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based upon estimated fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Fair values are estimated using market information where applicable; however, directly comparable 
information is not always readily available so significant estimates and judgment are used.  The Company believes it 
has made reasonable assumptions with respect to determining the fair values recognized.   

A gain of $41,804 has been recognized as the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired exceed consideration 
paid.  The gain has been included as other income in the statement of operations.  The results of Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose have been disclosed separately in Note 24.   
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The acquisition has been accounted for as follows: 

 
 $ 
Assets acquired at fair values:  

Inventory              6,019 
Property, plant and equipment 58,915 

 64,934 
Liabilities assumed at fair values:  

Accounts payable            3,652 
Asset retirement obligations 562 
Deferred income tax liabilities 15,916 
 20,130 

Net assets acquired at fair values 44,804 
Consideration paid 3,000 
Fair value gain on acquisition       41,804 

  
 
7. ACQUISITION OF FORTRESS OPTICAL FEATURES   
 

In January 4, 2011, the Company completed the purchase of optical security assets which produce security material 
for the security threads used in banknotes.  The assets were purchased through a wholly owned subsidiary, Fortress 
Optical Features Ltd. (“Fortress Optical Features” or “FOF”), for $750.  The assets have been relocated to a high 
security production and research facility that the Company built adjacent to its FSC mill in Quebec.   

The recognition of assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based upon estimated fair values at the date of 
acquisition. Fair values are estimated using market information where applicable; however, directly comparable 
information is not always readily available so significant estimates and judgment are used.  The Company believes it 
has made reasonable assumptions with respect to determining the fair values recognized.   

The acquisition has been accounted for as follows: 

 
 $ 
Assets acquired at fair values:  

Inventory         126       
Property, plant and equipment 624 

 750 
  
Liabilities assumed at fair values    -- 
Net assets acquired at fair values 750 
Consideration paid 750 
    -- 
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Sales and costs and expenses of FOF for the year ended December 31, 2011 are as follows: 

 Year ended 
December 31, 

2011 
$ 

  
Sales 2,569 
Costs and expenses (2,843) 
Net loss for the year (274) 

 

8. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 

Note 

December 
31, 2011 

$ 

December 
31, 2010 

$ 

January 
1, 2010 

$ 
     

Trade accounts receivable  15,072 11,018 18,555 
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivable 16 (4,453) (402) (521) 
     
Trade accounts receivable - net  10,619 10,616 18,034 

 

9. OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
 

 

Note 

December 
31, 2011 

$ 

 December 
31, 2010 

$ 

January 
1, 2010 

$ 
     

Receivable from lender 15 8,092 4,516 − 
Investment tax credits  16,310 − − 
Value added tax   10,990 7,250 1,179 
Holdbacks receivable  7,388 6,593 − 
Receivable from supplier 16 6,229 − − 
Government grant 21 2,713 − − 
Other  3,208 2,256 1,435 

     
  54,930 20,615 2,614 
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10. INVENTORIES 

 
 December 

31, 2011 
$ 

 December 
31, 2010 

$ 

January 
1, 2010 

$ 
    

Raw materials  51,851 32,442 18,263 
Work in progress  1,851 1,525 508 
Finished goods  8,449 7,197 7,293 
    
 62,151 41,164 26,064 
    

The cost of raw materials, purchased materials and change in inventory recognized as expenses included in cost 
of products sold amounted to $162,009 (2010: $153,331). 

The carrying amount of inventories pledged as security amounted to $43,530 (2010: $24,760). 

 
11.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 
 

 2011 
 Land 

 
$ 

Building 
 
$ 

 Equipment 
 
$ 

Work in 
Progress 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
At December 31, 2010      
Cost 22,796 35,744 80,716 66,532 205,788 
Accumulated amortization − (1,783) (17,231) − (19,014) 
Net book value 22,796 33,961 63,485 66,532 186,774 
      
Year ended December 31, 2011      
Purchase of Fortress Optical (note 7) − − 624 − 624 
Additions − 2,546 19,695 143,398 165,639 
Transfers − 15,256 46,386 (61,642) − 
Amortization for the year − (2,382) (11,981) − (14,363) 
Exchange differences 284 305 1,721 (635) 1,675 
Net book value 23,080 49,686 119,930 147,653 340,349 
      
At December 31, 2011      
Cost 23,080 53,839 148,128 147,653 372,700 
Accumulated amortization − (4,153) (28,198) − (32,351) 
Net book value 23,080 49,686 119,930 147,653 340,349 
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 2010 

 Land 
 

$ 

Building 
 
$ 

Equipment 
 
$ 

Work in 
Progress 

$ 

Total 
 

$ 
At January 1, 2010      
Cost 21,286 6,619 48,945 1,930 78,780 
Accumulated amortization − (657) (11,262) − (11,919) 
Net book value 21,286 5,962 37,683 1,930 66,861 
      
Year ended December 31, 2010      
Purchase of Thurso mill (note 6) 1,196 28,408 29,311 − 58,915 
Additions − 335 3,927 61,717 65,979 
Disposals − (23) (1,595) − (1,618) 
Transfers − 52 1,347 (1,399) − 
Amortization for the year − (1,090) (7,494) − (8,584) 
Exchange differences 314 317 306 4,284 5,221 
Net book value 22,796 33,961 63,485 66,532 186,774 
      
At December 31, 2010      
Cost 22,796 35,744 80,716 66,532 205,788 
Accumulated amortization − (1,783) (17,231) − (19,014) 
Net book value 22,796 33,961 63,485 66,532 186,774 
 
 
Work in progress at December 31, 2011 mainly comprises of equipment under construction for the conversion of the 
Fortress Specialty Cellulose mill to produce dissolving pulp. 
 
The net book value and accumulated amortization of capital leases included in equipment was $ nil at December 31, 
2011 and $140 and $792 at December 31, 2010. 
 
Included in property, plant and equipment were capitalized borrowing costs and accretion of $1,409 (2010: $1,911). 
Borrowing costs and accretion were capitalized at effective interest rates ranging from 5.6% to 16.3%. 
 
Property, plant and equipment secured by loans and mortgages amounted to $307,681 (2010: $166,008). 
 
 

12. EMPLOYEE FUTURE BENEFITS 

The Company maintains a defined contribution pension plan in Canada. The total cost recognized in 2011 for the 
Company’s contribution to the plan was $1,123 (2010: $639).  

The Company maintains a defined benefit pension plan in Switzerland providing pension benefits based on either 
length of service or earnings and length of service.  The Company measures its accrued benefit obligations and fair 
value of plan assets for accounting purposes as at December 31 of each year.  The most recent actuarial valuation for 
the plan was December 31, 2011. 

Approximately $2,206 is expected to be contributed by the Company to all pension plans for the year ended 
December 31, 2012.  

The status of the Company's defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 
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 Year Ended 
December 31, 

2011 
$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

Accrued benefit obligation   
Beginning of year   62,454         56,905      
Service cost  1,839 1,491 
Interest cost on accrued obligation  1,874 1,798 
Benefit payments  (7,388) (3,357) 
Contributions by plan participants  1,140 1,114 
Actuarial loss and other 7,119 1,137 
Foreign exchange  972 3,366 

      
End of year    68,010    62,454     

   
Plan assets    
Fair value, beginning of year    64,222    60,499 
Expected return on plan assets  2,597 2,346 
Actuarial loss  (1,562) (763) 
Employer contributions  1,140 1,114 
Employee contributions  1,140 1,114 
Benefit payments  (7,388) (3,356) 
Foreign exchange  1,403 3,268 

   
End of year    61,552       64,222    

   
           Funded status — plan (deficit) surplus   (6,458)     1,768      

 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

Pension expense recognized in net income   
Current service cost  1,839      1,491   
Interest cost  1,874 1,798 
Expected return on plan assets  (2,597) (2,346) 
Net expense recognized in net income 1,116       943 

 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

Actual return on plan assets   
Expected return 2,597      2,346   
Actuarial loss on plan assets (1,562) (763) 
Actual return on plan assets 1,035       1,583 

 
 
 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

Amount recognized in other comprehensive income before taxes   
Actuarial loss on plan assets in current year 1,562 763        
Actuarial loss on benefit obligation in current year 7,119 1,137 
Effect of asset limit reversal − (2,670) 

Loss (gain) recognized in other comprehensive income before taxes 8,681        (770) 
Cumulative amount recognized in other comprehensive income 10,748 2,067 

 
 
 December 31, 

2011 
December 31, 

2010 
January 1,  

2010 
Significant actuarial assumptions used are as follows % % % 
Discount rate to determine benefit obligations at end of year 2.5 2.9 3.3 
Discount rate to determine benefit expense (income) for the year 2.9 3.3 n/a 
Expected rate of return on plan assets  4.0 4.0 n/a 
Rate of increase in future compensation  1.5 1.5 1.5 

 Future pension increases 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 Expected average remaining working lives in years 9.1 8.8 8.9 
    
Plan assets at fair value at the end of the year % % % 
Liquid assets  9.0 6.0 3.8 
Bonds  50.1 50.2 51.1 
Equity  21.0 24.8 25.9 
Real estate  19.9 19.0 19.2 

 100.0 100.0 100.0 
 
The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns available on the assets underlying 
the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields as at 
the end of the reporting year. Expected returns on equity and property investments reflect long-term real rates of return 
experienced in the respective markets.  
 

 December 31, 
2011 

$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 
Experience adjustments   
Plan liabilities using January 1 assumptions 63,317 60,184        
Experience (gain) loss on plan liabilities 3,260 (813) 
Expected plan assets with January 1 assumptions 63,000 65,028 

   Experience loss on plan assets (1,490)        (749) 
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13. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES  

 
 December 31, 

2011 
$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
 Trade payables 60,547 24,567 14,620 

              Project accruals 7,010 2,815 − 
Employee accruals 6,727 4,326 2,666 
Customer prepayments 2,655 − − 
Inventory purchase accruals 1,780 204 − 
Other accruals 7,395 6,966 5,161 

    
 86,114 38,878 22,447 

 
 

14. INCOME TAXES 
 

The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as follows: 
 December 31, 

2011 
$ 

 December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1,  
2010 

$ 
Deferred tax assets:    
Deferred tax asset to be reversed after more than 12 months 9,063 − − 
Deferred tax asset to be reversed within 12 months − − − 
 9,063 − − 
    
Deferred tax liabilities:    
Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months 22,589 17,353 3,227 
Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months 1,162 1,173 − 

 23,751 18,526 3,227 
    

Deferred tax liability (net)  14,688 18,526 3,227 
    

 
The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows: 

 December 31, 
2011 

$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 
   

Opening deferred tax liability (net) 18,526 3,227 
Acquisition of Thurso pulp mill − 15,916 
Charged to operations (4,162) (862) 
Charged to comprehensive income (1,454) 129 
Charged directly to equity 1,661 − 
Exchange differences 117 116 
   
Deferred tax liability (net) 14,688 18,526 

 
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the 
offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: 
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Deferred Tax Liabilities 

Employee 
Future Benefits 

$ 

Property, Plant 
and Equipment 

$ 

Convertible 
Note 

$ 

Other 
 
$ 

Total 
 
$ 

      
As at January 1, 2010 135 3,097 − − 3,232 

Acquisition of Thurso pulp mill − 15,916 − − 15,916 
Charged to operations 28 (890) − − (862) 
Charged to comprehensive income 129 − − − 129 
Exchange differences (14) 125 − − 111 

      
As at December 31, 2010 278 18,248 − − 18,526 
      
As at December 31, 2010 278 18,248 − − 18,526 

Charged to operations − 3,473 (7) 356 3,822 
Charged to comprehensive income (278) − − − (278) 
Charged directly to equity − − 1,661 − 1,661 
Exchange differences − 23 − (3) 20 

      
As at December 31, 2011 − 21,744 1,654 353 23,751 

      
 

Deferred Tax Assets 

Tax Loss 
Carry-

forwards 
$ 

Employee 
Future 
Benefits 

$ 

Other 
 
 

$ 

Total 
 
 

$ 
     
As at January 1 and December 31, 2010 − − − − 

Charged to operations 7,801 (6) 189 7,984 
Charged to comprehensive income − 1,175 − 1,175 
Exchange differences − (92) (4) (96) 

     
As at December 31, 2011 7,801 1,077 185 9,063 

     
 
Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax loss carry-forwards to the extent that the realization of the related 
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable.  The Company did not recognize deferred tax assets of $13,492 
in 2011.  Tax loss carry-forwards consist of approximately $38,585 from the Security operations, which expire 
beginning in 2015 through 2031, and $16,249 from Corporate, which expire beginning in 2026 through 2031. 

The components of income tax expense are as follows: 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

   
Current  8,101    7,062       
Deferred (4,162) (842) 

   
 3,939  6,220       
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The reconciliation of income taxes calculated at the statutory rate of 26.50% to the actual income tax provision is 
as follows: 

 
 Year Ended 

December 31, 
2011 

$ 

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2010 
$ 

   
Net income (loss) before income taxes  (15,291)   40,085     
Income tax (recovery) provision at statutory rates  (4,051) 11,424 
Stock-based compensation and other non-deductible expenses  (170) 1,604 
Rate differentials between foreign jurisdictions, capital gains and future tax rates 3,256 (7,981) 
Tax loss carry-forward expired  202 295 
Change in deferred tax assets not recognized 4,702 878 

   
Income tax expense  3,939  6,220        

   
 

15. LONG-TERM DEBT  

 
 December 

31, 2011 
$ 

 December 
31, 2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
    

Credit agreement with bank maturing 2014; interest at 2.65%; secured by 
current assets (EUR 289;  Dec 2010: EUR 2,431; Jan 2010: EUR 3,223)  381     3,238     4,835   

Credit agreement with lender maturing 2018;  interest at 6.2% and 7.1%; 
secured by property, plant and equipment (EUR 19,675; Dec 2010: EUR 
15,377; Jan 2010: EUR nil) (a) 25,958 20,481 − 

Credit agreement with bank maturing 2012; interest at 4.8%; unsecured 
(CHF 1,570; Dec 2010: CHF 3,140;  Jan 2010: CHF 4,710)  1,703 3,344 4,760 

Credit agreement with bank maturing 2011, 2013 and 2018; interest up to 3.1% 
and 4.9%; secured by property, plant and equipment (CHF 5,400; Dec 2010: 
CHF 7,560; Jan 2010: CHF 8,820)  5,857 8,048 8,914 

Credit agreement with lender maturing 2016; unsecured (CHF 4,584; Dec 2010: 
CHF 4,598; Jan 2010: CHF 4,375) (b) 4,972 4,895 4,422 

Capital leases; interest at 4% (EUR nil; Dec 2010: EUR 110; Jan 2010: EUR 
324) − 196 486 

Credit agreement with lender maturing 2015; interest at 7%; unsecured (c) − 6,248 − 
Credit agreement with lender maturing 2016; interest at 6.5%; unsecured (d) 33,636 − − 
Credit agreement with lender maturing 2020; interest up to 5.5%; secured by 

assets (e) 79,901 8,285 − 
    
 152,408 54,735 23,417 

Less: Current portion  (14,459) (8,977) (5,378) 
    
Long-term debt 137,949   45,758   18,039 
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 December 
31, 2011 

$ 

 December 
31, 2010 

$ 

January 1, 
2010 

$ 
    

Principal value of debt 160,819 57,584 24,362 
Unamortized borrowing costs and amounts allocated to equity (8,411) (2,849) (945) 

    
Net amount recorded in liabilities 152,408 54,735 23,417 

 
Principal repayments as at December 31, 2011 are required as follows: 

  $  
    

2012    14,459  
2013   19,122  
2014   19,009  
2015  18,939  
2016  59,462  
Thereafter   29,828  

    
  160,819  

Borrowings under the above agreements require maintenance of certain financial and non-financial covenants. The 
Company has been in compliance with all covenants for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
 

(a) The credit agreement is a facility for up to EUR 22,150, of which EUR 22,150 has been drawn as at December 31, 
2011.  The facility bears interest at a rate of 6.2% up until March 2011.  Beginning in March 2011, the loan is 
repayable in equal installments over 7 years and bears interest at a rate of 7.1%.   
 
Interest has been calculated at 7.6% using the effective interest rate method.   
 

(b) The credit agreement is a facility for CHF 5,310 that bears no interest and is repayable based on the timing of 
production for the lender.  Interest has been calculated at 5% using the effective interest rate method.    
 

(c) The credit agreement is an unsecured convertible note of the Company in the principal amount of $15,000 that 
matures in April 2015. The convertible note bears interest at an annual rate equal to 7%, calculated semi-annually. 

The Company initially recorded a liability portion of $12,969 and an equity portion of $2,031 in contributed surplus. 
The liability portion was valued using a 10.8% initial interest rate.   
 
In October 2010, the holder elected to convert $8,000 of the convertible note into 400,000 common shares. As a 
result, contributed surplus was decreased by $1,081, long-term debt was decreased by $6,997, and share capital was 
increased by $8,076 for the year ended December 31, 2010.  
 
In February 2011, the holder elected to convert the remaining $7,000 of the convertible note into 350,000 
common shares.  As a result, contributed surplus was decreased by $948, long-term debt was decreased by 
$6,415, and share capital was increased by $7,363 for the year ended December 31, 2011. 
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(d) The credit agreement is an unsecured convertible note of the Company in the principal amount of $40,250 that 

matures in December 2016. The convertible note bears interest at an annual rate equal to 6.5%, calculated semi-
annually. 

The holder of the convertible note may, at its option, convert the convertible cote into common shares at any time 
prior to maturity.  The conversion price shall be equal to $37.50 per share.  
 
The Company may redeem the debentures in whole or in part on and after December 31, 2014 and prior to the 
maturity date, at its option, and repay in advance the debenture at a price equal to the principal amount plus 
accrued and unpaid interest, provided that the volume weighted average trading price of common shares on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange during 20 consecutive trading days is not less than $46.88 per share.  

 
After considering borrowing costs of $2,178, the Company has initially recorded a liability portion of $33,607 and 
an equity portion of $2,804 in contributed surplus (net of ($1,661) tax).  The liability portion was valued using a 
9.5% initial interest rate.  Interest is calculated at a 10.85% effective rate.   
 

(e) The credit agreement is a facility for up to $102.4 million, granted to Fortress Specialty Cellulose to support the 
conversion to dissolving pulp and co-generation capital expenditure programs. At December 31, 2011, $79,502 
(December 31, 2010: $4,703) has been drawn on this facility.  Of this amount $8,092 is pending receipt from the 
lender and has been included in other accounts receivable (December 31, 2010: $4,516).  The facility bears interest 
at a rate of 5% for the first five years of the loan and at a rate of up to 5.5% for the second five years of the loan.  
Commencing after two years, the facility is repayable in equal quarterly installments up to June 30, 2020.  Interest 
for the first two years of the credit agreement is added to the principal of the loan.  The total interest capitalized and 
added to the principal up to December 31, 2011 is $1,221. 
 
Interest has been calculated at 5.6% using the effective interest rate method.   
 
 

16. PROVISIONS 

 Landfills 

The Company has costs associated with containment and ongoing maintenance relating to landfill sites in Canada. 
These costs are measured at fair value, which approximates the cost a third party would incur in performing the tasks 
associated with the landfill sites. These obligations represent estimated undiscounted future payments of $853 to 
remediate the landfills at the end of their useful lives. These payments are expected to occur within the next 12 
months and have been recorded in accounts payable.  Of the opening balance $185 was recorded as a provision and 
$562 was recorded in accounts payable at December 31, 2010.    

The following table reflects changes in the reserve for environmental remediation and asset retirement obligations: 

 

  

  December 31, 
2011    
  $ 

Opening balance  747 
Additions due to new landfill being opened  106 
Balance at end of year  853 
Less: current portion included in accounts payable  853 
Long-term asset retirement obligation  − 
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Customer provisions 
 
As at December 31, 2011, a customer dispute existed for product supplied by the Company.  The complaint was the 
result of a faulty input which was provided by a third party supplier of the Company.  Any amounts under dispute 
will need to be reimbursed to the Company by the supplier.  As a result, the following amounts were recorded: 
 
  $ 
Amounts payable to third party supplier  (988) 
Inventory on hand provided for  4,313 
Accounts receivable provided for   2,904 
  6,229 
Amount recorded as other receivable  6,229 
Net effect to the Company  − 
 
 

17. SHARE CAPITAL  

(a) Authorized: 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value 
 Unlimited number of preferred shares with par value $1,000 

(b) Issued and fully paid — common shares: 
 

Note 
Number of 

Shares 
Share Capital 

$ 

Balance, January 1, 2010   10,233,500    59,083 
Private placement  1,900,050 42,347 
Restricted Share Units vested  18 65,038 684 
Options exercised  18 85,000 958 
Shares issued on redemption of convertible note 15 400,000 8,076 

Balance, December 31, 2010  12,683,588 111,148    
    
Private placement  1,112,050 54,782 
Restricted Share Units vested  18 69,506 1,013 
Options exercised  18 88,450 974 
Shares issued on redemption of Convertible Note 15 350,000 7,283 

Balance, December 31, 2011  14,303,594 175,200 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company completed a private placement of 1,112,050 shares for 
total net proceeds of $54,782 after transaction costs of $2,765. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company completed a private placement of 1,900,050 shares for 
total net proceeds of $42,344 after transaction costs of $2,308.  
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18. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  

 
During 2006, the Company adopted a stock incentive plan.  The exercise price of options granted under the stock 
option plan shall be as determined by the Board of Directors when such options are granted, subject to any 
limitations imposed by any relevant stock exchange or regulatory authority.  
 
At the Company’s annual general meeting held April 30, 2009, shareholders approved a long-term incentive plan 
which provides for the grant of restricted Share Units, performance Share Units and deferred Share Units to key 
employees and directors of the Company.  The aggregate number of shares issuable under the long-term incentive 
plan in respect of awards, together with shares reserved for issuance under all of the Company's other security-
based compensation arrangements, shall not exceed 10% of the Company's issued and outstanding shares. 

 
Stock options 
 
No options were granted in 2010 or 2011. Option pricing models require the input of highly subjective 
assumptions including the expected volatility. Changes in the assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate, and, therefore, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of the 
Company’s stock options. Assumptions used in the pricing model are as follows: 
 
  2009 

Risk-free interest rate  1.78% 
Expected life of options  5 years 
Annualized volatility  53% 
Dividend rate  Nil 
 
Stock option transactions and the number of stock options outstanding are summarized as follows: 
 
 Number of options Exercise Price 

$ 

Balance, January 1, 2010 740,175   8.00 
Exercised  (85,000)   8.00 

Balance, December 31, 2010 655,175   8.00 
Exercised (88,450) 8.00 

Balance, December 31, 2011 566,725  8.00 
 
As at December 31, 2011, 566,725 stock options were exercisable (December 31, 2010: 643,508).  The stock 
options issued have various vesting dates that range from one to three years from the IPO or grant dates.  For the 
year ended December 31, 2011, the Company recorded $17 in stock-based compensation expense and contributed 
surplus relating to options (2010: $223).  The weighted average remaining contractual life of the outstanding 
options as at December 31, 2011 is 5.8 years.   
 
Deferred Share Unit Awards 
 
A Deferred Share Unit (“DSU”) is a right granted to a non-employee director to receive one common share of the 
Company, from treasury, on a deferred basis.  The value of the DSUs, when redeemed, is equal to the market 
value of the shares on the redemption date, including the value of dividends paid on the Company's common 
shares, if any, as if they had been reinvested in additional DSUs on each payment date.  The DSUs may only be 
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redeemed upon a director's retirement from the Company.  The Company recognizes the expense at the time of 
grant.   
 
DSU transactions and the number of DSUs outstanding are summarized as follows: 

 
 Number of DSUs Expense recognized 

$ 

Balance, January 1, 2010 26,000       185 
Granted  121,481     5,134 
Redeemed  (8,458) 151 

Balance, December 31, 2010 139,023    5,470 
Granted 3,850 172 

Balance, December 31, 2011 142,873 5,642 
 
Restricted Share Unit awards 

 
A Restricted Share Unit (“RSU”) is a right granted to a key employee to receive one common share of the 
Company, from treasury, on a time vested basis.  The fair value of restricted share awards is determined based 
upon the number of shares granted and the quoted price of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.  Restricted 
shares generally vest over three to five years.   
 
RSU transactions and the number of RSUs outstanding are summarized as follows: 

 
 Number of RSUs 

Balance, January 1, 2010 157,626 
Granted  222,454 
Vested  (65,038) 

Balance, December 31, 2010 315,042 
Granted 17,128 
Vested (69,506) 

Balance, December 31, 2011 262,664 
 
For the year ended December 31, 2011, $1,711 (2010: $2,086) was recorded as stock-based compensation 
expense and contributed surplus related to RSUs.  As at December 31, 2011, the total remaining unrecognized 
compensation cost related to RSUs amounted to $5,865, which will be amortized over their remaining vesting 
year. 
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19. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSE  

 
 December 31, 

2011 
$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 
   
Interest expense:   

Long-term debt interest 3,670 2,458 
Accretion and other 1,755 542 

 5,425 3,000 
Less: amounts capitalized on qualifying assets (1,409) (1,911) 
Total finance expense 4,016 1,089 
Finance income – interest on short-term bank deposits (293) (265) 
   
Net finance expense 3,723 824 
   
 
 

20. EARNINGS PER SHARE  
 

a) Basic 
 

Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
 
 2011 2010 
   
Income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company  $   (19,230) $    33,865 
   
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 14,055,030 11,283,646 
   

 
b)   Diluted 

 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of common shares outstanding 
to assume conversion of all dilutive potential common shares. The Company has four categories of dilutive 
potential common shares: convertible debt, stock options, RSUs and DSUs. The convertible debt is assumed to 
have been converted into common shares, and the net income is adjusted to eliminate the interest expense less the 
tax effect. For the stock options, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the Company’s shares) based on 
the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding stock options. The number of shares 
calculated as above reduces the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share 
options.  RSUs and DSUs are assumed to be converted as of the grant date.   
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 2011 

$ 
2010 

$ 
Earnings   
Income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company (19,230) 33,865 
Interest expense on convertible debt (net of tax) n/a − 
   
Income (loss) used to determine diluted earnings per share (19,230) 33,865 
 
 
 2011 2010 

   
Weighted average number of common shares in issue 14,055,030 11,283,646 
Adjustments for:   

 Assumed conversion of convertible debt n/a 403,699 
Stock options n/a 462,696 
RSUs n/a 163,500 
DSUs n/a 43,758 

 14,055,030 12,357,299 
 
Adjustments for the weighted average number of common shares of 825,798 in 2011 for convertible debt, stock 
options, RSUs and DSUs have not been included in the calculation for diluted loss per share as they are 
antidilutive.   
 
 

21. GOVERNMENT ASSISTANCE 
 
Pulp and paper green transformation fund  
 
On June 17, 2009, the Canadian federal government announced the Pulp and Paper Green Transformation 
Program (“the Program”). The Program is designed as a reimbursement of funds to be spent on qualifying energy 
and environmental capital projects, credits may be used until the Program end date of March 31, 2012. The 
Company has been allocated $9.9 million from the Program on June 28, 2011. The Company has received 
Program approval to apply the funding to the installation of lime kiln and recovery boiler upgrades at the Fortress 
Specialty Cellulose mill.  These projects are expected to provide economic and environmental benefits to the 
Company’s operations. As at December 31, 2011 the Company had received $8.9 million under the Program.  
The remaining $1.0 million is expected to be received in 2012.   
 
Investment grants 
 
During 2011, the Dresden Papier mill received state and federal grants totalling EUR 518 (2010: EUR 1,229) for 
property, plant and equipment investments.  There are no repayment obligations as of December 31, 2011.  The 
grants were recorded as a reduction of property, plant and equipment. 
 
Training grants 
 
During 2011, the Thurso mill recorded $1,279 in training grants from the Quebec provincial government as a 
reduction of costs.  Of this amount, $746 has been recorded as other receivables.  There are no repayment 
obligations as of December 31, 2011. 
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22. COMMITMENTS 
 

As at December 31, 2011, the Company has committed to purchase $24.5 million in property, plant, and equipment.  
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has performance bonds in the amounts of EUR 6,981 and USD 152. 
 
As at December 31, 2011, the Company has committed to purchase steam from a supplier up to the end of 2015 for 
CHF 900 per year.   

The minimum operating lease commitments for equipment and offices over the next five years and thereafter are 
as follows: 
 
 

 
 

23. RELATED PARTIES 
 

 
The remuneration of directors and other key management personnel was as follows:  
 
 

  December 
31, 2011 

$ 

December 
31, 2010 

$ 
   

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 4,667 7,749 
Share-based awards 1,723 7,561 
   
Total  6,390 15,310 

 
 
 
24. SEGMENTED INFORMATION   
 

The segmentation of the Company's manufacturing operations is based on a number of factors, including production, 
production processes, and economic characteristics.  The Landqart mill and Fortress Optical Features produce 
security papers and products.  The Dresden mill produces non-woven wallpaper base products.  Fortress Specialty 
Cellulose produces pulp products.  No single customer accounted for greater than 10% of sales.  All pulp production 
is sold through an external agent that takes ownership of the inventory before it is sold to the end user.   

 $ 
  

2012  805 
2013  765 
2014  149 
2015 33 
2016 11 
Thereafter  − 

 1,763   
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 Year ended December 31, 2011 
 Wallpaper 

 
$ 

Security 
 

$ 

Pulp 
 
$ 

Corporate 
 

$ 

Fortress 
Consolidated 

$ 
      

Sales  144,226 54,206 110,481 - 308,913 
Operating income (loss)  28,353 (30,885) (692) (9,739) (12,963) 
Amortization1 (3,112) (7,752) (3,499) - (14,363) 
Stock-based compensation1 - - - (1,900) (1,900) 
Capital expenditures  10,208 18,848 136,582 - 165,638 
Total assets 60,515 142,379 281,166 9,471 493,531 

      
Sales by geographic area     % 
Europe     60.2 
Asia     32.0 
North America     1.0 
Other     6.8 
Total      100.0 

1Stock-based compensation and amortization are included in operating income (loss). 

 
 Year ended December 31, 2010 
 Wallpaper 

 
$ 

Security 
 

$ 

Pulp 
 
$ 

Corporate 
 

$ 

Fortress 
Consolidated 

$ 
      

Sales  122,316 73,203 85,768 - 281,287 
Operating income (loss)  20,576  (4,527) 3,035 (17,742) 1,342 
Amortization1 (2,121) (4,208) (2,255) - (8,584) 
Stock-based compensation1 - - - (7,594) (7,594) 
Capital expenditures  4,777 45,983 15,217 - 65,977 
Total assets 56,644 123,235 102,662 24,072 306,613 

      
Sales by geographic area     % 
Europe     79.5 
Asia     12.0 
North America     5.7 
Other     2.8 
Total      100.0 

1Stock-based compensation and amortization are included in operating income (loss). 
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25. SUPPLEMENTARY CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

 
 
Non-cash items  

 
The change in non-cash property, plant and equipment purchases included in accounts payable was ($27,587) at 
December 31, 2011 and ($6,953) at December 31, 2010.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2011, 350,000 common shares of the Company were issued as part of the 
redemption of a convertible note.  During the year ended December 31, 2010, 400,000 common shares of the 
Company were issued as part of the redemption of a convertible note. 
 

 
26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 
a. Financial risk factors 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk 
(including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk).  
 
Credit Risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations. Credit risk is managed on a Company basis, except for credit risk relating to 
accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for each 
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Credit risk arises 
from cash and cash equivalents, and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to 
customers. 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on deposit and cash equivalents with an original maturity date of 90 days 
or less. In order to mitigate the risk of financial loss, cash on deposit is held with major Canadian and 
international financial institutions.  The cash and cash equivalents balance at December 31, 2011 was $22.8 
million (2010: $42.6 million).   

 
The Company utilizes a combination of credit insurance and factoring to manage the risk associated with trade 
receivables.  Approximately 81% of the outstanding trade receivables are covered under credit insurance or 
backed by letters of credit.  The majority of the balance is with large and financially sound customers.  The 
Company sells all pulp through a third party agent that takes ownership of the inventory before it is delivered to 
the final customer.  Accounts receivable aged greater than 90 days are $205 of which $175 is provided for as 
potentially impaired.  The remaining amount is considered collectable. The Company’s trade receivable balance 
at December 31, 2011 was $10.6 million (2010: $10.6 million). 
 
Included in other receivables is a $6.2 million receivable from a supplier related to a dispute where amounts have 
not been determined.  It is management’s best estimate that the amount will be collectible from the supplier; 
however, amounts collected could differ materially from what is recorded.  If the dispute with the customer of the 
Company exceeds this amount, further reimbursement will be sought from the supplier. 
 
The Company has entered into sales contracts for approximately 78% of intended output of its dissolving pulp 
operations with floor and ceiling prices based on the price of dissolving pulp and viscose, which is the main 
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product for which dissolving pulp is used.  The floor and ceiling prices are considered closely related to the price 
of dissolving pulp for accounting purposes.  The contracts end in 2016 and 2021.   
 

 
Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  Cash 
flow forecasting is performed in the operating entities of the Company in and aggregated by Company finance. 
Company finance monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient 
cash to meet operational needs while not breaching borrowing limits or covenants.  The Company manages 
liquidity risk through management of its capital structure in conjunction with cash flow forecasting including 
anticipated investing and financing activities. 
 
At December 31, 2011, the Company’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities totaled $86.1 million (2010: 
$38.8 million), all of which fall due for payment within one year of the statement of financial position date. 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk through ongoing review of accounts receivable balances and the 
management of its cash and debt positions.   
 
Although there can be no assurances, Fortress believes that cash generated from operations, together with amounts 
available under its credit facilities and net proceeds from the equity financings, will be sufficient to meet its debt 
service requirements, capital expenditure needs and working capital needs for the foreseeable future. Fortress' future 
operating performance and its ability to service its debt and pay other indebtedness of Fortress will be subject to 
future economic conditions and the financial success of Fortress' business and other factors, many of which are not 
within Fortress' control, including changes in market prices for its dissolving pulp, security and specialty papers and 
raw material costs. 
 

 
 Market Risk 
 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in interest rates and foreign currency. 
 
Interest rate risk: 
 

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk through its financial assets and financial obligations bearing 
fixed and variable interest rates. The Company believes that interest rate fluctuations would not have a 
significant impact on net income. 
 
The Company manages interest rate risk by maximizing the interest earned on excess funds while 
maintaining the liquidity necessary to meet day-to-day operating cash flow requirements.  The Company 
currently does not use derivative instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk. 
 

 
Currency risk: 
 

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily in Euros, Swiss Francs and American dollars. 
The Company’s products are sold globally with prices denominated primarily in Euros, Swiss Francs and 
American dollars.  The majority of the Company’s expenditures are denominated in Euros, Swiss Francs and 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 
Canadian dollars. In addition, the Company holds financial assets and liabilities in the local operating 
currencies.     
 
For the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, the Company did not use derivative 
instruments to reduce its exposure to currency risk for sales denominated in a foreign currency.   
 

Sensitivity analysis: 
 

The Company has completed a sensitivity analysis to estimate the impact on operating earnings for the year 
that a change in foreign exchange rates or interest rates during the year ended December 31, 2011 would have 
had. 
 
This sensitivity analysis includes the following assumptions: 
 
• Changes in individual foreign exchange rates do not cause foreign exchange in other countries to alter 
• Changes in market interest rates do not cause a change in foreign exchange rates 

 
The results of the foreign exchange sensitivity analysis can be seen in the following table: 
 
 Impact on net income 

$ 

Change of + 1% in CHF foreign exchange rate - 308 
Change of + 1% in EUR foreign exchange rate +      267        
Change of + 1% in USD foreign exchange rate +      917       
 
The above results arise due to the combined impact of foreign currency fluctuations on operations and the 
translation of operations into the Company’s functional currency. The currency risk is partially mitigated by 
both revenues and expenses being denominated in local currencies in Landqart and Dresden. Fortress will 
continue to monitor and evaluate the future use of exchange contracts to limit exposure to exchange 
fluctuations.    
 

Limitations of sensitivity analysis 
 

The financial position of the Company may vary at the time that a change in the factors occurs, causing the 
impact on the Company’s results to differ from that shown above. 
 
 

b. Capital management 
 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its assets and maintain a globally competitive 
cost structure while looking for growth opportunities to provide returns to its shareholders. In addition, the 
Company works with all relevant stakeholders to ensure the safety of its operations and employees, and remain in 
compliance with all environmental regulations and enhance the communities in which it operates. 

The Company constantly monitors and assesses its financial performance in order to ensure that its net debt 
levels are prudent taking into account the anticipated direction of the business cycle.  The Company continuously 
monitors the public and private debt markets and the public equity markets in order to assure that its capital 
structure is appropriately balanced.  The Company can be materially influenced by changes in the relative value 
of the Canadian dollar, Swiss Franc, American dollar, and Euro. 



FORTRESS PAPER LTD. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 
(Canadian dollars, amounts in thousands except share and per share data) 

 
The Company’s capital comprises net debt and shareholders’ equity: 

 
 December 31, 

2011 
$ 

December 31, 
2010 

$ 

January 1,    
2010 

$ 
    

Cash and cash equivalents 22,897 42,559 33,205 
Less total debt 152,408 54,735 23,417 
Net (debt) cash  (129,511) (12,176) 9,788 

Shareholders’ equity 231,639 190,786 94,968 
 
The Company has certain financial covenants stipulating maximum net debt to capitalization ratios, maximum 
debt to earnings before interest, taxes, amortization and amortization ratios, and minimum current ratios. Debt 
obligations are held by various entities within the Company with individual debt agreements specifying the 
entities within the Company that are to be included in the covenant calculations.   
 
The Company’s strategy is to ensure it remains in compliance with all of its existing debt covenants in order to 
ensure continuous access to capital.  Management reviews past results and forecasts to monitor their compliance. 
The Company was in compliance with all externally imposed capital requirements for the years ended December 
31, 2011 and December 31, 2010.   
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